T h e N e x t Wa v e o f G r o w t h

The Next Wave of Growth

These are foreboding financial times – for
Trinidad and Tobago, for the world. At
C L Financial we are cautious but unafraid.
Leaders in government and business sectors
throughout the globe are taking joint action to
mitigate this economic crisis, and so are we.
For our part, we at C L Financial have always
practised diversification of our assets and
sought out new markets for our deep roster of
brands. No organisation will be immune from
the turbulence but our widespread assets and
market penetration are the best shield against
these uncertain conditions.
“The Next Wave of Growth” is the theme of
this annual report, highlighting, to quote our
Chairman, “that out of any crisis opportunities will
emerge and our progress during the year under
review prepares us to seize those opportunities
and unlock value.” We have confidence in our
ability to not only navigate this financial storm
but to find fresh and profitable opportunities
within it. It is this belief that brought us from a
local holding company to the largest corporate
entity in the Caribbean, with assets and activities
in every continent.
Whatever the circumstance, we at C L Financial
continue to believe in success – and the “next
wave of growth”.
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C L Financial Limited
C L Financial Limited is an investment holding
company that supports the growth and well-being of
its enterprises which operate within a wide range of
industry sectors, which include: Insurance; Banking
& Financial Services; Real Estate; Manufacturing,
Retail & Distribution; Forestry & Agriculture; Energy
& Petrochemicals; and Health Services.
Established in 1993 as a holding company for
Colonial Life Insurance Company Ltd (CLICO),
today C L Financial holds investments in over
65 companies in 32 countries worldwide.
Headquartered in Trinidad, C L Financial Limited is
the largest privately-held conglomerate in Trinidad
and Tobago, and one of the largest privately-held
corporations in the entire Caribbean.

2

MISSON
To be a globally competitive corporation
by creating and directing enterprises to grow in changing times.

VISION
A boundaryless learning organisation engaged in diverse businesses
enhancing the quality of life in the communities we serve.
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Our
Corporate
Values

In order to live up to our business concept and realise our mission and vision,
three corporate values underpin C L Financial Limited:

DEVELOPMENT
of organisation and working methods – renewal
of staff, managers and executives – learning
of services and products – creativity
of quality of life, environment and competitiveness – customer-driven

COOPERATION
with our customers – in long-term relationships
with our partners – in ventures based on trust
with our alliance partners – for increased strength
with our staff – in openness, respect and trust
between all parts of CL Financial – cooperative spirit

COMMITMENT
to participation and responsibility
to job satisifaction and involvement
to initiative and boldness
to enthusiasm for quality
to good corporate governance
to balance the interest of Shareholders with those of
other Stakeholders
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Letter to
Shareholders
Dear Shareholders,

It requires active policy coordination such
as a coordinated reduction in policy
rates by major central banks and a plan
of action endorsed by the international
community that countries can use to
support the financial system, jump-start
credit, and restore confidence

“Out of clutter, find Simplicity.
From discord, find Harmony.
In the middle of difficulty lies Opportunity”.
–Albert Einstein, Three Rules of Work
The Global Environment – Crisis & Opportunity
I am addressing this letter to you at a time of extreme
financial turbulence.
Most major economies have announced that they
are technically in a recession. The OECD has stated
that a global recession is imminent and economic
activity has slowed in all major trading nations. As
if to prove that globalisation is a real phenomenon,
almost every country on the planet has been
adversely affected by this financial crisis.

contagion, are using their ample reserve cushions to
weather the storm, while others are seeking liquidity
assistance from multilateral financial institutions.
We have already witnessed the willingness of
several governments to break with precedent and
try new approaches to stabilise financial market
conditions. Increasingly, these approaches are
comprehensive, attacking all aspects of financial
market problems: liquidity, poor quality assets,
shortage of capital, and especially confidence.

The U.S. subprime mortgage collapse, which
started in the summer of 2007, has now morphed
into the most serious financial crisis since the Great
Depression of the 1930s. Solvency concerns about
several major financial institutions have triggered a
cascading series of bankruptcies, forced mergers
and government interventions in the United States
and Western Europe, which has resulted in a drastic
reshaping of the financial landscape. Moreover,
credit markets have been virtually frozen as trust
in counterparties has evaporated. Many people
fear that the economic consequences of the current
global financial crisis could last 12-24 months and
create conditions similar to the Great Depression.

There is now the growing recognition that a global
problem requires a global solution. It requires
active policy coordination such as a coordinated
reduction in policy interest rates by major central
banks and a plan of action endorsed by the
international community that countries can use to
support their financial system, jump-start credit, and
restore confidence.
But we still have a very long way to go. Prospects
for world growth have deteriorated over the past
year and we expect the world to get quite close
to a global recession by the middle of 2009. The
downturn is led by the industrial countries, the first
such episode in the post-war period.

I do not share this view. The world today is very
different from the 1930s. Governments and
businesses have learned from the mistakes of the
past, and we have learned from each other’s
experiences. We now have the tools to manage
markets and economies which were not available
almost eighty years ago. Most importantly, we
have the will to use them. I am confident that we
can emerge from this crisis with our economies and
our societies intact.

Of course, Caribbean economies connected as they
are with the U.S. economy – their largest trading
and investment partner – are not immune to these
events. Indeed, we anticipate a reduction in tourist
arrivals and a slowdown in remittances. Another
reality is that softening energy-based commodity
prices will ease balance of payments pressures
for many Caribbean countries but would have a
negative impact on the budgetary and external
positions of the Trinidad and Tobago economy.

Across the world, central banks have injected
extraordinary amounts of liquidity into economies;
governments have arranged the takeover of key
financial institutions to guarantee all deposits.
Emerging economies, feeling the impact of
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Methanol plants owned by Methanol Holdings (Trinidad) Limited (MTHL), located at Point Lisas, Trinidad.

Now let’s look beyond the crisis. Today C L Financial
has a presence on virtually every major continent
in the world, making it the largest, diversified
conglomerate in the Caribbean. Our investments
are spread over 65 companies in 40 countries
worldwide with an asset base in excess of TT$100
billion. In the aspirations of the legendary Cyril
Duprey, we have indeed travelled from colony to
nation.

With a focus on financial performance, risk
management, human capital development and
corporate social responsibility, I expect this “next
wave of growth” strategy to yield superior financial
results for several years, and to put us in a position
to realise excellent future prospects.

As an investment holding company, much of the
success of C L Financial stems directly from the
competitive position of its subsidiary companies,
which remain strong, as we have first-class CEOs
and Management with considerable autonomy
who run them right, in good times or bad.

• We
must
act
quickly
to
seize
opportunities created by the crisis.
• We must act comprehensively and
imaginatively to unlock and enhance value.
• We must act cooperatively.

As the global economy and financial markets enter
a new and uncertain phase, the C L Financial Group
stands at the cusp of the next wave of growth and
is preparing to shape itself as a formidable global
player in four main sectors:
•
•
•
•

Financial Services
Energy
Drinks Manufacturing and Distribution
Real Estate Development.

To optimise the welfare for all Stakeholders, we
must continue to do three things.

The Next Wave of Growth – Strategic Sectors
Given its geographic and product diversity, it
is important that C L Financial view its global
operations through the lens of strategic sectors
in order to maintain and sustain comparative
advantage. Operating in this manner helps our
companies to disseminate knowledge and key
lessons around the world – an important element
of any sustainable globalisation strategy. And as
portfolio theory has taught us, such diversification
can lead to risk reduction.
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Financial Services
C L Financial Limited is a dominant force in the
financial services industry particularly through its
subsidiary companies – Colonial Life Insurance
Company (Trinidad) Limited (CLICO) and
Republic Bank Limited – which hold leadership
positions in the insurance and banking sectors
respectively. Today, CLICO is the largest indigenous
insurance company in the Caribbean with an
asset base of around TT$22 billion and operating
in 22 countries. In 2007, CLICO received over
TT$1 billion in investment income, an increase of
103% over 2006. The company added online
service delivery to its product offerings, augmented
insurance products and took a thorough measuring
of client feedback.
Republic Bank Limited, in which C L Financial is
the majority shareholder (over 55%), is the largest
bank in Trinidad and Tobago with an asset base
of almost TT$37 billion. In 2007, leading New
York-based international banking and finance
publication Global Finance named Republic Bank
the Best Emerging Market Bank. Republic Bank was
awarded the title based on its growth in assets,
profitability, strategic relationships, customer
service, competitive pricing and innovative
products.
Further afield, our expansion in Central America
through CLF Latin America continues to meet and
exceed our expectations. In less than two years of
operations, the company via its subsidiary Central
American Money Market Brokers SA (CAMMB)
has achieved great market recognition in Costa
Rica, ranking as the second largest non-banking
brokerage firm with assets under management of
US$15.9 million as of December of 2007. CAMMB
has also seen strong growth in its market share.
Energy
Since 1993, C L Financial has seen a tremendous
return on its energy sector investments. Our
subsidiaries Methanol Holdings [Trinidad]
Limited (MHTL) and Methanol Holdings
(International) Limited (MHIL) own the largest
single-train methanol plant in the world (M5000),
four other methanol plants in Trinidad, and one
plant in Oman. These plants have the combined
capacity to produce over four million metric tonnes

There is now growing recognition that
a global problem requires a global
solution. It requires active policy
coordination such as a coordinated
reduction in policy rates by major central
banks and a plan of action endorsed by
the international community...

of methanol per year. This puts MHTL and MHIL as
some of the largest producers of methanol in the
world. MHTL has also commenced construction of
its new flagship development project, the US$1.5
billion Ammonia-Urea Nitrate-Melamine (AUM)
Complex. When completed in the second half
of 2009, the AUM complex will comprise seven
distinct but integrated plants generating 1.5 million
tonnes of Urea Ammonia Nitrate-32 solution and
60,000 tonnes of granular melamine per year. The
AUM project represents a strategic diversification
out of methanol and ammonia into a broader range
of downstream petrochemicals which have the
potential to be used in the production of a range of
consumer goods.
MHTL has also made significant progress in the area
of research into alternative energy. In July 2007,
MHTL commissioned its Methanol to Power Project
involving the use of methanol as a fuel in power
generation. A Demonstration Power Plant which can
generate up to 8.5 megawatts of power has been
established to provide the electricity requirements
of two of MHTL’s methanol plants. Once proven,
the methanol-fuelled power stations can provide an
ultra-clean source of power for the neighbouring
smaller islands of the Caribbean for whom natural
gas via pipeline is not a feasible option.
Drinks Manufacturing and Distribution
C L Financial’s globally competitive position in the
premium drinks industry is manifested through its
two subsidiaries, CL World Brands Limited
(CLWB) and Angostura Limited (AL).
11
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CL World Brands Limited is a globally competitive
drinks group located in the U.K., with strong
regional platforms across Europe, the U.S. and the
Caribbean. Its objective is to build international
brands primarily in the spirits sector. Angostura
Limited produces the world famous Angostura®
Bitters and award winning 1919® rum. It owns the
largest distillery in the U.S., the former Seagram’s
Distillery in Lawrenceburg, Indiana, making
Angostura the largest independent alcoholic spirits
producer in the U.S. and an integral part of the
supply chain for several multinational spirit brands.
Angostura produces 9% of the total U.S. domestic
spirits consumption. In 2007, C L Financial also
executed a purchase agreement for the Charles
Medley Distillery in Owensboro Kentucky, which
will further increase Angostura’s portfolio through
the production of Kentucky bourbon.
In July 2008, Angostura in conjunction with the
C L Financial Group completed the acquisition of
outstanding shares in Lascelles DeMercado Limited,
a major Jamaican-listed conglomerate, whose
prime possessions include the prized Appleton®
and Wray & Nephew® rum brands. Appleton®
is well entrenched in the Top 100 Global Spirits
Brands, the only brand from the Caribbean to
hold such a position. With the added strength of
these brands alongside our already world famous
Angostura® brand, C L Financial will become the
largest manufacturer of Caribbean rums with a
significantly expanded global distribution network
into North and Central America, Europe and
throughout Asia.

As we prepare for the next
wave of growth, our main
focus must be sound financial
performance across our various
strategic business initiatives.

the largest construction projects in Trinidad and
Tobago, including:
• Trincity Millennium Vision – a 22-acre total
community in eastern Trinidad
• One Woodbrook Place –  three high rise towers
with podia for residential and commercial use
in Port of Spain
• The Crossings – a residential development in
Trinidad’s eastern capital, Arima
• Orchard Villas – a residential development in
Tacarigua.
Through these various projects HCL is implementing
a design concept called “new urbanism”. New
urbanism advocates building settlements that
either include or are within close proximity of the
components of living – employment, educational
opportunities, recreation, culture and shopping.
This is opposed to the “dormitory settlement” style
of housing development which has prevailed in
Trinidad over the past decades.

Real Estate

The Next Wave of Growth – Financial Performance

Through its innovative real estate development
projects, Home Construction Limited (HCL)
is the flagship real estate company within the
C L Financial Group. Over the years, HCL has
expanded its operations into the construction and
development of industrial parks and estates, hotels,
office plazas, shopping malls, leisure and resort
facilities in Trinidad and Tobago, the Caribbean and
beyond. There are now 22 operational companies
within the HCL Group, specialising in construction
management, property development, environmental
and town planning, and architectural consultancy
for residential and commercial building projects.

I am pleased to report that the financial performance
of the C L Financial Group in 2007 surpassed
that of 2006 as measured by a TT$182 million
increase in profit before taxation, an increase of
7.9%. This represents a steady progression over
a five-year period and is indicative of the Group’s
future earnings potential. C L Financial’s revenue
grew by 34% to nearly TT$27 billion from TT$20
billion in 2006 whilst CL Financial’s total asset
base increased by almost TT$12 billion or 13%
over 2006.

HCL is currently responsible for the development,
management and maintenance of several of

Over the past few years, the Group’s emphasis has
been on growing and diversifying the asset base,
which has increased from $27 billion to over $100
billion at an impressive 38% compounded annual
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REVENUE AND PROFIT BEFORE TAX
2003-2007
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growth rate per year. Profit growth has matched
this asset growth over the past five years, although
in 2007 there was some slowing in this regard.
With the consolidation of the assets under the four
major growth sectors of Financial Services, Energy,
Real Estate and Drinks, and with many companies
maturing past their early stages of growth, we are
now focusing on unlocking the true potential of the
assets to deliver superior profit performance in the
coming years.
Under the astute direction of C L Financial’s Board of
Directors and the dedicated support of the Group’s
Executive Management, I am confident that, despite
the challenges of the unfolding global financial
crisis and world recession, we will continue to reap
a favourable financial performance in 2008. As
we prepare for the next wave of growth, our main
focus must be sound financial performance across
our various strategic business initiatives.
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Profit before tax

The Next Wave of Growth –
Human Capital Development
Over the years, I have found that C L Financial’s
success is largely due to our strict adherence
to the core strategy of leveraging our human
capital along with the financial capital to create
extraordinary stakeholder value. C L Financial
comprises over 65 companies and in this global
village we have encouraged our subsidiary leaders
to bring to reality, the notion of a C L Financial
Family. Human capital development, with a focus
on fostering Group camaraderie, will continue to
be a key objective for C L Financial in 2008.
Establishing a Corporate University is critical in this
regard. Corporate universities are not only excellent
places for employees to develop new managerial
and technical capabilities but also to build informal
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networks and absorb a common culture and values.
Career management involves much more than just
carefully designing an academic curriculum: it is
about matching opportunities with available talent
and takes many years to develop. Since talent is
our scarcest resource, we must link our strategicplanning process (opportunities) with our talent
evaluation process (talent supply) to design careerdevelopment plans and identify recruiting needs in
advance.

The C L Financial Group of
Companies must continue to focus
on making significant contributions
to education, sport, culture, and
poverty alleviation.
public responsibilities. More than half of the CEOs
predicted that these expectations would increase
significantly during the next five years.

The Next Wave of Growth –
Corporate Social Responsibility
Here at CL Financial Limited, we gauge success
not just by high returns, but more importantly by
making a real difference within our communities.
According to a recent McKinsey survey of CEOs
at companies participating in the United Nations
Global Compact, more than 90% of them are
doing more than they did five years ago to
incorporate environmental, social, and governance
issues into their core strategies. This is because
society has greater expectations than it did five
years ago, that private companies will assume

While pressure from employees, consumers,
and other stakeholders plays an important part
in this trend, we must see the new demands as
opportunities to gain a competitive advantage and
to address global problems at the same time.
The C L Financial Group of Companies must continue
to focus on making significant contributions to
education, sport, culture, and poverty alleviation.
In addition to ongoing donations, sponsorships
and programmes the Group should consistently
find new ways to remain actively involved in the
communities which we embrace.

East Gate townhouses on the golf course at Trincity Millennium Vision – a project of the HCL Group.
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Barrels of spirits stacked in the aging warehouse at Angostura Limited, Trinidad.

With Much Appreciation
Let me conclude by returning to a point I made
earlier; we can emerge successfully from the
global financial crisis as long as we act quickly,
comprehensively, and cooperatively. I will do my
part. But much will depend on you, our valued
Shareholders, to continue your unstinting support of
C L Financial Limited, and for which I thank you.
I have chosen “Next Wave of Growth” as the theme
of C L Financial’s 2007 annual report to highlight
that, out of any crisis opportunities will emerge and
our progress during the year under review prepares
us to seize those opportunities and unlock value.
Of course, none of our accomplishments would be
possible without the diligence and dedication of
our Board of Directors.
Our subsidiaries continue to make major
contributions to the Group’s earnings, reflecting
the sound leadership of each CEO and Executive

Manager within the C L Financial Group, as well
as the many employees who keep their company’s
vision alive.
Thank you all for your invaluable commitment to the
C L Financial Family.
With a positive outlook for the future, I look forward
to addressing you again in a year’s time with yet
another favourable review.
Sincerely,

Lawrence A. Duprey, CMT
Group Executive Chairman
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It is my pleasure to report to you on the financial
performance of the C L Financial Group for the
year ended 31 December 2007.
Against a backdrop of challenging economic
circumstances coupled with growth prospects in
various jurisdictions and sectors, the Group was
able to record a modest increase in profit before tax
which grew from $2,313 million to $2,495 million
or 7.8%. Profit for the year declined from $2,203
million to $1,740 million and profit attributable to
equity holders declined from $713 million to $55
million.
The Group’s asset base, which is already the
largest of any Conglomerate headquartered
within the Caribbean, increased from $88,721
million to $100,666 million or 13.4%, driven
largely by organic growth and expansion within
existing subsidiaries, but also through the strategic
acquisition of new subsidiaries, whereby $802
million in total assets was added during the year.
Throughout the year, the Group disposed of four
subsidiaries, the most significant of those being
the Home Mortgage Bank (HMB). However, the
Group, through Republic Bank, continues to hold an
associate shareholding interest of 24% in HMB.
Revenue and Core Business
Gross and other revenue, including interest income
and investment income, increased by 34% from
$19,988 million to $26,858 million, whilst the core
business performance consisting of net revenue, net
interest income and other income excluding the gain
on disposal of subsidiaries increased by 28% from
$7,315 million to $9,428 million. These increases
were driven by growth in three of the Group’s
four key operating segments – financial services
(insurance and banking), real estate and energy
with the fourth segment, drinks manufacturing and
distribution experiencing a decline in revenue as a
result of the sale of Belvedere S.A. in 2007.
Expenses
Total expenses increased by $1,780 million or 41%
to $6,120 million. Notwithstanding the Group’s
commitment to ensure that all units are operationally
efficient, the impact of relatively significant inflation
in the majority of territories within which the Group
operates, as well as business expansion within
subsidiaries, has resulted in significant increases

in administration and operating expenses. The
Group also experienced a $355 million increase
in asset impairment expense arising from increased
provisions for loan and investment loss provisions
taken during the year.
Finance Costs
The Group’s finance costs increased by $275
million or 28% during the year driven by a $6,459
million increase in borrowings coupled with
increases in the lending rate regime in Trinidad and
Tobago. This increase is in line with the expansion
that the Group has experienced and is expected to
continue with the further expansion that the Group
has undertaken in 2008.
Taxation
The Group’s tax expense has increased from
$109 million to $755 million or 589% with the
effective tax rate increasing from 4.7% to 30.2%.
The increase has resulted from a $792 million
increase in deferred tax costs, arising primarily in
our Methanol Holdings subsidiary, as a result of
reversal of tax losses recognised in prior years. The
Group continues to be prudent in its recognition
of tax losses and has not recognised a potential
deferred tax asset of $1,101 million due to the
uncertainty over the timing of recoverability of
these tax losses.
Financial Conditions
Approximately 50% of the Group’s $11,945
million increase in total assets arose from a $6,182
million increase in property, plant and equipment.
The significant portion of this increase arose from
the group’s expansion within the energy sector,
notably the construction of the AUM project and the
expansion of the Methanol Company in Oman as
well as the acquisition of two companies during the
year. Other significant increases include a $2,035
million increase in loans and advances arising out of
the Group’s two main banking subsidiaries Republic
Bank Limited and Clico Investment Bank Limited;
an increase of $1,781 million in cash and cash at
bank; a $1,152 million increase in other current
assets; a $992 million increase in inventories and
a $986 million increase in investment properties.
The Group experienced a $2,086 million decline
in its financial assets as a result of the disposal
of the Group’s investment in Belvedere S.A., the
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reclassification of its investment in Jamaican Money
Market Brokers Limited to an investment in an
associate and finally some decrease in the market
value of the Group’s financial assets arising from a
fall in the values of some of the Group’s foreign and
locally held equity and fixed income instruments.
The Group’s liabilities increased by $11,223 million
over the prior year with a $6,459 million increase
in borrowings and a $4,179 million increase in
insurance contracts comprising the majority of the
overall growth. Approximately 58% of the group’s
total liabilities have maturities of within one year.
Total equity increased by $722 million with
minority interests increasing by $970 million and
shareholders’ equity decreasing by $248 million.
The Group’s return on average assets declined from
2.6% in 2006 to 1.8% as a result of the reduction in
profit attributable to shareholders, whilst the return
on average equity (excluding minority interest)
declined from 68.9% to 0.23% as a result of the
reduction in profit attributable to equity holders.
Segment Commentary
Financial Services – Insurance
Gross and Other revenues increased from $6,766
million to $9,905 million or 46% in 2007 with 73%
of the growth being driven by the Group’s flagship,
Colonial Life Insurance Company (Trinidad) Limited
(CLICO®). CLICO® continues to be the premier
insurance company within Trinidad and its brand
continues to resonate well within other Caribbean
territories, notably Barbados and the Bahamas
where improved image and innovation of products
and delivery channels are major drivers of the
overall performance. The Group’s main general
insurance subsidiary, Colonial Fire & General
Insurance Company Limited (Colfire), returned
a creditable performance as well. Total assets of
the insurance segment increased by $5,231 million
which constituted approximately 41% of the total
increase in Group assets.
Financial Services – Banking
Gross and Other revenues increased from $4,115
million to $5,403 million or 31% in 2007. Republic
Bank Limited, Trinidad and Tobago’s largest

Banking subsidiary, contributed significantly to the
Group’s overall increase in revenues, assets and
profitability, whilst Clico Investment Bank Limited
(CIB) and Caribbean Money Market Brokers Limited
(CMMB) also performed creditably. The Group’s
commitment to this vital sector of our economy is
evidenced by the subsequent year-end acquisition
of the remaining minority ownership of CMMB and
it is expected that this relatively ‘young organisation’
will continue to be a forerunner in the development
of the region’s overall financial environment to
complement the traditional banking entities. Total
assets of the banking segment increased by $1,688
million, which constituted approximately 14% of
the total increase in Group assets.
Energy
The Group’s best performing segment in 2007
was the energy and energy-related services
group, contributing the greatest amount to the
overall profitability. The stellar performance was
characterised by total revenues increasing from
$5,974 million to $8,624 million (44%) and total
assets increasing from $14,871 million to $23,149
million (56%). Methanol Holdings (Trinidad) Limited
continued its outstanding performance noted
over the last few years as a result of increased
international methanol prices as well as increased
production. This performance was achieved whilst
engaging in significant expansion through the
ongoing construction of the AUM project comprising
Ammonia, Urea Solution, Urea Ammonium
Nitrate and Melamine plants. Methanol Holdings
(International) Limited commenced operations of
the Oman Methanol Company and this has already
begun to deliver significant returns to the Group.
Two of the Group’s three acquisitions during the
year were in this segment, notably Eurotecnica
Melamine S.A. which was acquired in November
2007.
Drinks Manufacturing and Distribution
2007 was a challenging year for this segment
which saw gross and other revenues fall from
$2,471 million to $2,260 million (9%) and total
assets decline from $5,673 million to $4,599
million (19%). The Group’s premier drinks and
spirits Group, Angostura Holdings Limited (AHL),
saw its core business performance improve over
the year, but suffered losses on the disposal of
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Belvedere S.A. that contributed to an overall loss
before taxation of $132 million being recorded by
AHL in 2007. AHL, however, continues to expand
its brands in major markets globally and the Group
remains focused on brand investment and growing
its worldwide market share of premium spirits.
To this end, the Group’s 87% acquisition of the
Lascelles DeMercado Group, a major Jamaican
conglomerate with the world recognised Appleton®
and Wray & Nephew® rum brands as its prized
possessions, was completed in mid-2008, and is
expected to resound positively in the remainder of
2008 and beyond.
Real Estate
In 2007, gross and other revenues increased by
$365 million (46%) and total assets increased
by $1,022 million (32%), driven by a strong
performance of the Home Construction Group
of Companies (HCL). HCL is the leading private
sector developer of housing communities and
Commercial Mall operators within the region and
is currently engaged in several multi-year, multiphase developments, most notably Millennium
Park and One Woodbrook Place. The construction
sector has faced considerable challenges; this is
in the face of rising raw material prices and lack
of availability of key construction trades and skills
that have led time and cost overruns. The result has
been the delay of key projects, especially within
One Woodbrook Place, now scheduled for total
completion toward the end of 2009. The new HCL
management team is committed to overcoming
these challenges and to promoting the company’s
reputation as the standard-bearer for developing
quality and affordable community living.

global shocks arising from the upcoming economic
challenges, and our outlook continues to remain
positive. Apart from strategies to continue organic
growth within existing subsidiaries, the Group will
continue to seek opportunities for expansion and
acquisition throughout the world in a manner that
maximises value for our shareholders. We will also
be striving to gain synergies across the sectors in
which the Group operates through coordinated
sector strategies and interaction among sector
subsidiaries. As a growing global organisation, we
must also continue to develop and institutionalise
corporate governance and risk management
systems to ensure that we have the systems in place
to proactively monitor and treat with the various
risk factors that organisations face.
We are confident that the Group will continue to
meet its vision of becoming a significant global
organisation and through our people resources,
we will be able to overcome any challenges that
we are faced with.

Michael E. Carballo
Group Financial Director

Outlook
The outlook for the global economy suggests a
decline in economic growth for 2008 and 2009 as
the threat of a worldwide recession looms. Declining
commodity prices, especially for the country’s two
major revenue earners, oil and gas, are expected
to adversely affect the level of economic activity
and the effects will be felt by all of the Group’s
subsidiaries to varying extents.
The C L Financial Group is a well diversified group
that can deal with and withstand any potential

19

Director’s Report

2007
$’000
		

2006
$’000			
Restated

Gross Revenues and Income

26,858,202

19,987,892

Profit from operations
Finance costs
Share of profits of associates

3,380,470
(1,269,928)
384,832

2,975,561
(995,114)
332,571

Profit before taxation
Taxation

2,495,374
(754,919)

2,313,018
(109,534)

Profit for the year

1,740,455

2,203,484

100,666,256

88,721,172

889,878

1,137,568

Total assets
Shareholders’ Equity

Dividends
In 2008, a dividend of $3.00 was declared by the Board in respect of the financial year ended
31 December 2007.
Directors
In accordance with the by-laws, all Directors, other than the Executive Chairman, retire from office and all
the retiring Directors, being eligible offer themselves for re-election.
Auditors
The Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
By order of the Board

Gita Sakal
Corporate Secretary
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C L Financial Limited
Independent Auditor’s Report
To the shareholders of
C L Financial Limited
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of C L Financial Limited (“the Group”), which comprise
the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2007 and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
The Group’s accounting policy for freehold properties within ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ is to carry them at fair value at
the date of revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses as permitted by IAS 16
- Property, Plant and Equipment (“IAS 16”). However, as explained in Note 7, management has not carried out revaluations
of certain of its freehold properties in the Group and as such these freehold properties are carried at historical cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. IAS 16 requires that if an item of property, plant
and equipment is revalued, the entire class of property, plant and equipment to which that asset belongs shall be revalued.
The Group has not consistently applied the requirements of IAS 16, to determine the fair value of certain of its freehold
properties that are carried at historical cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
and hence whether any fair value adjustment should be applied to certain freehold properties recorded in the balance sheet
at 31 December 2007. In the absence of information to assess the fair value of these freehold properties, we were unable
to satisfy ourselves as to the carrying amounts of freehold properties by other audit procedures.
As discussed in Note 44, the financial statements do not include the disclosures about the significance of financial instruments
to C L Financial Limited’s financial position and performance, the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
exposed during the financial period and at the reporting date, required by IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures. In our
opinion, presentation of this information is necessary for a proper understanding of the financial position and operations
of the Group.
Qualified Opinion
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of the Group as of 31 December
2007, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Port of Spain,
Trinidad, West Indies
18 November 2008
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
31 December
Notes		
2007		
2006
			
$’000		
$’000
					
Restated
ASSETS
Investment properties
6		
4,663,184		
3,677,120
Property, plant and equipment
7		 20,034,784		
13,853,240
Land held for development
8		
230,256		
279,032
Intangible assets
9		
2,735,055		
2,707,420
Investment in associates
10		
1,744,909		
1,700,208
Financial assets
11		 20,939,443		
23,025,462
Deferred tax assets
12		
1,009,463		
1,227,699
Retirement benefit assets
13
1,192,406		
1,076,582
Loans and advances
14
21,975,223		
19,939,779
Other assets
15		
1,427,731
1,596,120
Taxation recoverable			
84,570		
54,090
Inventories
16		
3,009,192		
2,017,352
Trade and other receivables
17		
7,398,550		
6,516,887
Other current assets			
2,539,332
1,386,978
Statutory deposits with Central Bank
18		
2,195,798
1,957,745
Cash and cash at bank
19
9,486,360
7,705,458
Total Assets		

100,666,256

88,721,172

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES						
Share capital
20		
Reserves			
Retained earnings		

7,500		
234,884
647,494

7,500
573,930
556,138

			
Minority interest		

889,878		
7,579,174

1,137,568
6,609,343

Total Equity		

8,469,052

7,746,911

LIABILITIES
Insurance contracts
21		
Investment contracts
22		
Borrowings
23		
Derivative financial instruments
24
Deferred tax liabilities
12		
Post retirement medical benefits
25		
Asset retirement obligation
26		
Trade payables and customers’ deposits
27		
Due to unit fund holders			
Related party advance			
Taxation payable			
Other current liabilities
28		
Bank overdrafts
19

18,046,208		
1,615,292		
14,847,125
44,239
1,627,899		
95,380		
580,618		
29,862,792		
1,783,086		
1,435,522		
375,649		
21,130,844		
752,550

13,867,172
1,551,280
8,387,893
177,843
1,456,437
83,398
506,452
28,183,537
2,802,834
1,411,147
354,682
21,423,379
768,207

		

92,197,204

80,974,261

Total Equity and Liabilities		

100,666,256

88,721,172

The notes on pages 28 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements.
On 18 November 2008, the Board of Directors of C L Financial Limited authorised these financial statements for issue.

____________________________
Director

___________________________
Director
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Consolidated Income Statement
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Year Ended
31 December
Notes		
2007		
2006
			
$’000		
$’000
					
Restated
8,352,492
10,963,493		
(8,063,446)		
(7,070,579)

5,549,625
8,712,473
(4,997,433)
(5,699,326)

Net revenue		
4,181,960
				
Interest income		
3,616,569		
Interest on customer deposits		
(2,296,911)

3,565,339
3,157,868
(1,976,064)

Net interest income		

1,319,658

1,181,804

Other operating income
29
Investment income			
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
39

2,408,542		
1,517,106		
73,203

1,414,422
1,153,504
616

Other income		

3,998,851

2,568,542

Net insurance premium income		
Other revenue		
Insurance benefits/claims			
Other direct expenses		

Impairment of assets		
Administration expenses			
Distribution expenses			
Operating expenses		

(413,090)		
(3,024,618)		
(642,843)		
(2,039,448)

(57,905)
(2,179,022)
(600,124)
(1,503,073)

Expenses		

(6,119,999)

(4,340,124)

Profit from operations

30

Finance costs			
Share of profit of associates
10

3,380,470		
(1,269,928)
384,832

2,975,561
(995,114)
332,571

Profit before taxation			
Taxation
31

2,495,374		
(754,919)

2,313,018
(109,534)

Profit for the year		

1,740,455

2,203,484

Attributable to
Minority interest		
Equity holders		

1,685,480		
54,975

1,490,481
713,003

		

1,740,455

2,203,484

The notes on pages 28 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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25
7,500

276,093

25,627

The notes on pages 28 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance at 31 December 2007

(66,836)

350,801
(455,085)
37,448
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
647,494

889,878

482,241 1,063,671
(1,936)
(457,021)
—
37,448
221,213
221,213
54,975
54,975
(71,499)
—
—
7,092
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(37,500)
(37,500)
7,579,174

8,469,052

7,640,626
(457,021)
37,448
221,213
1,740,455
—
7,092
(552,581)
(76,977)
155,946
(209,649)
(37,500)

6,576,955
—
—
—
1,685,480
—
—
(552,581)
(76,977)
155,946
(209,649)
—

18,535
—
—
—
—
—
7,092
—
—
—
—
—

Restated balance as at January 2007		
Revaluation adjustment		
Deferred tax credited to equity (Note 12)		
Allocated from policyholders		
Net profit for the year		
Transfer (Note 33)		
Currency translation differences		
Dividends paid		
Disposal of subsidiary		
Effect of increase in minority interest		
Share of other reserve movements		
Dividends relating to 2006 (Note 32)

204,594
—
—
—
—
71,499
—
—
—
—
—
—

7,746,911
(106,285)

6,609,343
(32,388)

7,500
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Total
$’000

Minority
Interest
$’000

			
		
Fair
		Share
Reserve Translation
Value Retained		
		 Capital
Funds
Reserve
Reserves	Earnings
Total
		
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
								
Year Ended 31 December 2007			
					
								
Balance at 1 January 2007		
7,500
204,594
18,535
350,801
556,138 1,137,568
Prior period adjustments (Note 40)
—
—
—
—
(73,897)
(73,897)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

26
204,594

—
72,536
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
7,500

132,058
—
—
—
—

7,500
—
—
—
—

6,448
—
—
—
—

18,535

—
—
12,087
—
—
—
—
—

The notes on pages 28 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance at 31 December 2006

Restated balance at 1 January 2006 		
Revaluation adjustment		
Deferred tax credited to equity (Note 12)		
Allocated to policyholders		
Net profit for the year		
Change in shareholders’ units held in
Managed Fund		
Transfer (Note 33)		
Currency translation differences		
Disposal of subsidiary		
Effect of increase in minority interest		
Share of other reserve movements		
Minority interest on acquisition		
Dividends paid
350,801

25,019
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

363,445
(118,124)
80,461
—
—

556,138

—
(72,536)
—
—
—
—
—
—

421,131
—
—
(505,460)
713,003

1,137,568

25,019
—
12,087
—
—
—
—
—

930,582
(118,124)
80,461
(505,460)
713,003

			
		
Fair
		Share
Reserve Translation
Value Retained		
		 Capital
Funds
Reserve
Reserves	Earnings
Total
		
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
								
Year Ended 31 December 2006								
								
Balance at 1 January 2006
as previously reported 		
7,500
132,058
6,448
369,160
777,035 1,292,201
Prior period adjustments (Note 40)
—
—
—
(5,715) (355,904)
(361,619)

6,609,343

—
—
—
(35,295)
(211,358)
(299,475)
192,066
(397,320)

7,746,911

25,019
—
12,087
(35,295)
(211,358)
(299,475)
192,066
(397,320)

6,800,826
(118,124)
80,461
(505,460)
2,203,484

7,177,167
(376,341)

5,884,966
(14,722)
5,870,244
—
—
—
1,490,481

Total
$’000

Minority
Interest
$’000

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
(Expressed in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
Year Ended
31 December
		
Notes		
2007		
2006
				
$’000		
$’000
						
Restated
Cash flows from operating activities
36
Corporation tax payments net of refunds		

3,575,375		
(326,963)

2,293,660
(292,470)

Net cash inflow from operating activities		

3,248,412

2,001,190

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from long term borrowings		
Repayment of long term borrowings			
Dividends paid to minority			
Dividends paid to company shareholders		
Net cash inflow from financing activities		

14,300,203
(9,072,233)		
(552,581)		
(26,053)
4,649,336

5,079,229
(2,841,592)
(397,320)
(35,998)
1,804,319

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
7		
Purchase of land held for development
8		
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment			
Purchase of investment properties
6		
Proceeds from disposal of associate			
Acquisition of associates			
Purchase of increased shareholding in subsidiary			
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties			
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary			
Proceeds from disposal of land held for development			
Net sale/(purchase) of financial assets 		

(7,259,496)
(1,162)
277,083		
(841,469)		
205,465		
(80,427)		
—		
145,105		
190,352
31,718		
1,639,304

(2,859,635)
(4,119)
312,804
(715,301)
140,713
(150,440)
(15,235)
19,223
30,687
—
(1,225,704)

Net cash outflow from investing activities		

(5,693,527)

(4,467,007)

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) for the year		

2,204,221		

(661,498)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at beginning of year		
Net cash (outflow)/inflow on
acquisition of subsidiaries
38

6,937,251		

6,752,927

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of year

8,733,810

19

The notes on pages 28 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(407,662)

845,822
6,937,251

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2007
1

Incorporation and Principal Activities
CL Financial Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) principal activities include life and
non-life insurance, real estate, trading and distribution, manufacturing of methanol, oil and gas exploration, financial
services including commercial banking and long-term mortgage financing, food processing and manufacturing,
manufacture and sale of rum and other spirits. The Company is a limited liability company with the registered office
at 29 St. Vincent Street, Port of Spain and is incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago.
A listing of the Group’s principal subsidiaries is set out in Note 37. A listing of the Group’s principal associated
undertakings is shown in Note 10.

2	Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1

Basis of preparation

		

These consolidated financial statements of CL Financial Limited have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards except for the adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standard 7: Financial Instruments – Disclosures, as discussed in Note 44. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings, investment properties,
available for sale financial assets and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

		

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standard requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.
(a)	Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007

		

The following amendments to published standards are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2007:
• IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, and the complementary amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation
of financial statements – Capital disclosures’, introduces new disclosures relating to financial instruments
and does not have any impact on the classification and valuation of the Group’s financial instruments,
or the disclosures relating to taxation and trade and other payables. This standard is relevant to the
Group and has not been adopted due to the lack of adequate information to prepare the complete
disclosure requirements for years-ended 2006 and 2007. (See Note 44).
• IFRIC 8, ‘Scope of IFRS 2’, requires consideration of transactions involving the issuance of equity
instruments, where the identifiable consideration received is less than the fair value of the equity
instruments issued in order to establish whether or not they fall within the scope of IFRS 2. This standard
does not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
• IFRIC 10, ‘Interim financial reporting and impairment’, prohibits the impairment losses recognised in
an interim period on goodwill and investments in equity instruments and in financial assets carried at
cost to be reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date. This standard does not have any impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

(b)	Standards, amendments and interpretations early adopted by the Group
		

There were no standards, amendments and interpretations early adopted by the Group.

28

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2007
2	Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
(c)	Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007 but not relevant

		

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 but they are not relevant to the Group’s
operations:
• IFRIC 7, ‘Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29, Financial reporting in hyper-inflationary
economies’ and
• IFRIC 9, ‘Re-assessment of embedded derivatives’

(d)	Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
		

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and
are mandatory for the Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later
periods, but the Company has not early adopted them:
• IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1 January 2009). It requires an entity to
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the
cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. The
Group will apply IAS 23 (Amended) from 1 January 2009. This is not expected to have an effect on
the Group’s accounts as interest costs on qualifying assets are currently capitalised during the period
of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use (see Note 2.9)
• IFRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their
interaction’ (effective from 1 January 2008). IFRIC 14 provides guidance on assessing the limit in IAS
19 on the amount of the surplus that can be recognised as an asset. It also explains how the pension
asset or liability may be affected by a statutory or contractual minimum funding requirement. The
Company will apply IFRIC 14 from 1 January 2008.

(e) Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the
Group’s operations
		

The following interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later periods but are not relevant
for the Group’s operations:
• IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (effective from 1 January 2009). IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and aligns
segment reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131, ‘Disclosures about segments of
an enterprise and related information’. The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under
which segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.
IFRS 8 is not relevant to the Group as its parent company CL Financial Limited does not have debt
or equity instruments that are traded in public markets nor does it have to file consolidated financial
statements with any regulatory body.
• IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements’ (effective from 1 January 2008). IFRIC 12 applies to
contractual arrangements whereby a private sector operator participates in the development, financing,
operation and maintenance of infrastructure for public sector services. IFRIC 12 is not relevant to the
Group’s operations because none of the Group’s companies provide for public sector services.
• IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’ (effective from 1 July 2008). IFRIC 13 clarifies that where
goods or services are sold together with a customer loyalty incentive (for example, loyalty points or
free products), the arrangement is a multiple-element arrangement and the consideration receivable
from the customer is allocated between the components of the arrangement using fair values. IFRIC 13
is not relevant to the Group’s operations because none of the Group’s companies operate any loyalty
programmes.
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31 December 2007
2	Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
2.2

Consolidation
a)

Subsidiaries

		

Subsidiaries are all entities (including Special Purpose Entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date on which control ceases.

		

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
The cost of acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the income statement. See note 2.4 for
the accounting policy on goodwill.

		

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
of the asset transferred. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

b)
		

c)

Transactions and minority interests
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with parties
external to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group that
are recorded in the income statement. Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the
difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary.
Associates

		

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s
investment in associates includes goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) on acquisition.

		

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses of associates is recognised in the
income statement and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

		

Accounting policies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the group.

		

Dilution gains and losses in associates are recognised in the income statement.
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2.2

Consolidation (Continued)
d)

		

2.3

Joint ventures
Jointly controlled entities are those that involve the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other
entity in which each venturer has an interest. The entity operates in the same way as other entities except
that a contractual arrangement between the venturers establishes joint control over the economic activity
of the entity. The Group’s interest in jointly controlled entities is accounted for by the equity method of
accounting. During the year-ended 31 December 2006 Tobago Plantations Limited was reclassified from
being a joint venture to a subsidiary.

Foreign currency translation
a)

		

b)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars, which is the Group’s functional and
presentation currency.
Transactions and balances

		

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

		

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available
for sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount
are recognised in equity.

		

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available for
sale are included in the available-for-sale reserve in equity.

c)
		

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date
of that balance sheet;
(b) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and
(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
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2.3

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

		

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

		

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

2.4

Intangible assets
i)

Goodwill

		

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill
on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in ‘intangible assets’. Goodwill on acquisition of associates
is included in ‘investments in associates’ and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of
an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

		

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

ii)
		

iii)
		

iv)

Research and development
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when
it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and technological feasibility, and
only if the cost can be measured reliably. Other development expenditures are recognised as an expense
as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period. Development costs that have been capitalised are amortised from the commencement
of the commercial production of the product on a straight-line basis over the period of its expected benefit.
Brands, trademarks and licences
Acquired brands and trademarks are shown at historical cost. They have a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of brands and trademarks over their estimated useful lives, but not exceeding 20 years.
Intangible assets are not revalued. Licences have an indefinite life and are shown at historical cost.
Other intangible assets

		

Other intangible assets comprise primarily computer software and customer relationships.

		

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (three to five years).

		

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Expenditure which enhances and extends the benefits of computer software programmes
beyond their original specifications and lives is recognised as a capital improvement. Computer software
development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful lives,
not exceeding a period of three years.

		

Customer relationships are amortised on a straight-line basis over an expected useful life of seven years.
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2.5
		

2.6

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
Inventories

		

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. For raw materials cost is determined using
the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity), but
excludes borrowing costs.

		

In subsidiaries involved in property development, work in progress includes land transferred out of the land
account plus subsequent costs incurred in the development of the land and construction of houses thereon.

		

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.7
		

2.8
		

2.9
		

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. When a trade debtor is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
to the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within borrowings in current liabilities
on the balance sheet.
Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings (except for certain freehold and properties) are shown at fair value less subsequent
depreciation for buildings. All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Valuations are conducted every three years by a combination of independent valuations as well as directors’
valuations. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line or reducing balance method at
rates estimated to write off the depreciable amounts of the fixed assets over their useful lives.
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2.9
		

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the following methods:

			
		
The annual depreciation rates used are:-

Straight Line

Reducing Balance

2 – 62/3%
31/3 – 62/3%
5 – 331/3%
10 – 40%
10 – 50%
5 – 331/3%
50%

11/2 – 4%
2%
10%
6 – 50%
20 – 331/3%
2 – 331/3%
—

		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Freehold buildings
Leasehold properties
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
Plant and machinery
Turnaround costs

		

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of buildings are credited to fair value reserves in
shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against fair value
reserves; all other decreases are charged to the income statement.

		

When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount.

		

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount and are
included in operating profit. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in fair value reserves are
transferred to retained earnings.

		

Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment are capitalised, during
the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other borrowing
costs are expensed.

		

Repairs and maintenance other than major planned maintenance expenditure (turnarounds) and catalyst costs
are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. The cost of major
renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits in
excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset will flow to the Group. Major
renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset.

		

Major planned maintenance expenditure (turnarounds) providing benefits accruing to periods longer than one
year are amortised evenly over these periods, usually 24 months. Where significant capital costs are incurred
during turnaround, which enhances the life of the plants these costs are capitalised and written off over the
remaining useful lives of the plants.

		

When the carrying amount of major inspection and overhaul costs are greater than their estimated recoverable
amount, they are written down immediately to their recoverable amount.
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2.10 Oil and gas exploration assets
		

Oil and natural gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are accounted for using the ‘successful efforts’
method of accounting. Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field basis. Geological and geophysical costs
are expensed as incurred. Costs directly associated with an exploration well, and exploration and property
leasehold acquisition costs, are capitalised until the determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is determined
that commercial discovery has not been achieved, these costs are charged to expense.

		

Capitalisation is made within property, plant and equipment or intangible assets according to the nature of the
expenditure.

		

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment and
transferred to development tangible and intangible assets. No depreciation and/or amortisation is charged
during the exploration and evaluation phase.
(a)

		

(b)
		
(c)
		

(d)
		

(e)
		

Development tangible and intangible assets
Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms,
pipelines and the drilling of commercially proven development wells, is capitalised within property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets according to nature. When development is completed on a specific
field, it is transferred to production or intangible assets. No depreciation or amortisation is charged
during the exploration and evaluation phase.
Oil and gas production assets
Oil and gas production properties are aggregated exploration and evaluation tangible assets; and
development expenditures associated with the production of proved reserves.
Depreciation/amortization
Oil and gas properties intangible assets are depreciated or amortised using the unit-of-production method.
Unit-of-production rates are based on proved developed reserves, which are oil, gas and other mineral
reserves estimated to be recovered from existing facilities using current operating methods. Oil and gas
volumes are considered produced once they have been measured through meters at custody transfer or
sales transaction points at the outlet valve on the field storage tank.
Impairment – exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when reclassified to development tangible
or intangible assets, or whenever facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration and evaluation assets’ fair
value less costs to sell and their value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, the exploration
and evaluation assets subject to testing are grouped with existing cash-generating units of production
fields that are located in the same geographical region.
Impairment – proved oil and gas production properties and intangible assets
Proven oil and gas properties and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows.
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2.11 Investment properties
		

Investment properties, principally comprising office buildings and shopping malls are held for long-term rental
yields and capital appreciation and are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties are treated as
long term investments and are carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted,
if necessary, for any differences in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the information
is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets
or discounted cash flow projections. Property valuations are done annually by management and reviewed
triennially by independent professionally qualified valuators. Changes in fair value are recorded in the income
statement and are included in other operating income.

2.12 Insurance and investment contracts
		

Classification

		

The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk, financial risk or both.

		

Insurance contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk. As a general guideline, the
Group defines as significant insurance risk the possibility of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an
insured event that are at least 10% more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur.

		

Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no significant insurance risk.

		

Recognition and measurement

		

Insurance contracts are classified into the following main categories, depending on the duration of risk and
whether or not the terms and conditions are fixed.
Short-term insurance contracts

		

These contracts are group and individual health, short-duration life insurance contracts and property and
casualty insurance contracts.

		

Group and individual health contracts are generally one year renewable contracts issued by the insurer which
provide coverage to policyholders for medical, dental and vision expenses incurred.

		

Short-duration life insurance contracts protect the Group’s customers from the consequences of events (such as
death or disability) that would affect the ability of the customer or his/her dependants to maintain their current
level of income. Guaranteed benefits paid on occurrence of the specified insurance event are either fixed
or linked to the extent of the economic loss suffered by the policyholder. There are no maturity or surrender
benefits.

		

For all these contracts, premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) proportionally over the period
of coverage. The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the
balance sheet date is reported as the unearned premium liability. Premiums are shown before deduction of
commission.

		

Property and casualty insurance contracts are generally one year renewable contracts issued by the Group
covering insurance risks over property, motor, accident and marine. Premium revenue is recognised as earned
on a pro-rata basis over the term of the respective policy coverage. The provision for unearned premiums
represents the portion of premiums written relating to the unexpired terms of coverage.

		

Claims expenses are charged to income as incurred. They include direct and indirect claims settlement costs
and arise from events that have occurred up to the balance sheet date even if they have not yet been reported
to the Group. The Group does not discount its liabilities for unpaid claims. Liabilities for unpaid claims are
estimated using the input of assessments for individual cases reported to the Group and statistical analyses for
the claims incurred but not reported.
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Long-term insurance contracts
		

These contracts insure events associated with human life (for example death, or survival) over a long duration,
generally issued for fixed terms of five years or more, or for the remaining life of the insured. Benefits are
typically a death or critical illness benefit, a cash value on termination and / or a monthly annuity. Annuities
are generally payable until the death of the beneficiaries with a proviso for a minimum number of payments.
Some contracts may allow for the advance of a policy loan to the policyholder and may also allow for dividend
withdrawals by the policyholder during the life of the contract.

		

Premiums are recognised as revenue when they become payable by the contract holder. Premiums are shown
before deduction of commission. Typically premiums are fixed and are required to be paid within the due
period for payment. If premiums are unpaid, the contract will terminate unless an automatic premium loan is
available to settle the premium.

		

Policy benefits are recognised when they are incurred. Policy loans advanced are recorded as loans and
receivables in the balance sheet and are secured by the cash values of the respective policies.

		

A liability for contractual benefits that are expected to be incurred in the future is recorded when the premiums
are recognised. The liability is determined as the sum of the expected discounted value of the benefit payments
and the future administration expenses that are directly related to the contract, less the expected discounted
value of the future contractual premiums (if any). In order to determine the liability, assumptions deemed
appropriate by the Actuary are made in respect of mortality, persistency, maintenance expenses and investment
income that may occur over the future lifetime of the contract. A margin for adverse deviations is included in
the assumptions.

		

Where insurance contracts have a single premium or a limited number of premium payments due over a
significantly shorter period than the period during which benefits are provided, the excess of the premiums
payable over the valuation premiums is deferred and recognised as income in line with the decrease of
unexpired insurance risk of the contracts in-force or, for annuities in force, in line with the decrease of the
amount of future benefits expected to be paid.

		

The liabilities are recalculated at each balance sheet date using the assumptions established at inception of the
contracts.

		

Policy acquisition costs

		

For long-term insurance contracts with fixed and guaranteed terms commissions and other acquisition costs
that vary with and are related to securing new contracts and renewing existing contracts are capitalised as
deferred acquisition costs (DAC) and subsequently amortised in line with premium revenue using assumptions
consistent with those used in computing future policy benefit liabilities subject to the following modifications:
• For long-term insurance contracts issued prior to 2001, a maximum amortisation period of 20 years is
applied.
• DAC is reduced to the extent that either the net level valuation premium exceeds the policy premium or DAC
is not recoverable from expected future cash flows.
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Reinsurance contracts held
		

Contracts entered into by the Group with reinsurers under which the Group is compensated for losses on one
or more contracts issued by the Group and that meet the classification requirements for insurance contracts
are classified as reinsurance contracts held. Contracts that do not meet these classification requirements are
classified as financial assets. Insurance contracts entered into by the Group under which the contract holder
is another insurer (inwards reinsurance) are included with insurance contracts. The Group cedes insurance
premiums and risk in the normal course of business under excess of loss contracts in order to limit the potential
for losses arising from its exposures. Reinsurance does not relieve the originating insurer of its liability.

		

The Group obtains reinsurance coverage for its health and life insurance risks. The reinsurance premium is
expensed over the coverage period of respective policies. Reinsurance claims recoveries are established at
the time of claim settlement.

		

The Group obtains reinsurance coverage for its property and casualty insurance risks. The reinsurance ceded
premium is expensed on a pro-rata basis over the term of the respective policy coverage. Reinsurance claim
recoveries are established at the time of recording the claim liability. Profit sharing commission due to the
Group is recognised only when there is reasonable certainty of collectibility, at which time it is recorded as
commission income.

		

The benefits to which the Group is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance
assets. These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers (classified within loans and advances),
as well as longer term receivables (classified as reinsurance assets) that are dependent on the expected claims
and benefits arising under the related reinsured insurance contracts. Amounts recoverable from or due to
reinsurers are measured consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and
in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily premiums
payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense when due.

		

The Group assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on an annual basis. If there is objective evidence
that the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to its
recoverable amount and recognizes that impairment loss in the statement of income. The Group gathers the
objective evidence that a reinsurance asset is impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets
held at amortised cost. The impairment loss is also calculated following the same method used for these
financial assets.
Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts and investment contracts

		

Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers
and insurance contract holders.

		

If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount
of the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the statement of income. The
Group gathers the objective evidence that an insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted
for loans and advances. The impairment loss is also calculated under the same method used for these financial
assets.

		

Liability adequacy test

		

At each balance sheet date, liability adequacy tests are performed by the Group appointed actuaries to ensure
the adequacy of the contract liabilities. In performing these tests, current best estimates of future contractual
cash flows and claims handling and administration expenses, as well as investment income from the assets
backing such liabilities, are used. Any deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss establishing a
provision for losses arising from liability adequacy tests.
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2.12 Insurance and investment contracts (Continued)
		

Policy claims in the course of settlement

		

Policy claims in the course of settlement comprise the estimated cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the
balance sheet date, less any reinsurance recoveries and expected recoveries from salvage and subrogation.
Provision is also made for claims incurred but not reported until after the balance sheet date, using management
best estimates which are based on the historical loss experience in the recent years.

		

Differences between the provision for outstanding claims and subsequent settlements and revisions are
recognised in the statement of income in the period in which they arise.

2.13 Current and deferred taxation
a)

Taxation in Trinidad and Tobago
i)

		

ii)
		
b)
		
c)

Long-term insurance business
Corporation tax is charged annually at 15% on investment income relating to the long-term
policyholders’ funds other than approved pension plans, less investment expenses allowed in relation
thereto. A further 10% corporation tax is chargeable on any surplus arising from the triennial
actuarial valuations when these are transferred to shareholders’ funds.
Other than long-term insurance business
Corporation tax is charged at current tax rate on each company’s chargeable income.

Taxation outside Trinidad and Tobago
Taxation on chargeable profits arising from business carried on outside Trinidad and Tobago is payable
at the rates prevailing in the particular territory and are fully provided for in these financial statements.
Deferred taxes

		

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

		

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

		

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation on property, plant and equipment, revaluation
of certain non-current assets, provisions for pensions and other post retirement benefits and tax losses
carried forward. Deferred tax assets relating primarily to the carry forward of unused tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised.
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2.14	Employee benefits
a)

Pension obligations

		

Group companies have various pension schemes in accordance with the local conditions and practices
in the countries in which they operate. The schemes are generally funded through payments to trusteeadministered funds or self-administered funds as determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The
Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. A defined benefit plan is
a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors
such as age, years of service or compensation.

		

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date minus the fair value of the plan assets,
together with adjustments for unrecognised past-service cost. The defined benefit obligation is calculated
annually by independent actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit method. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest
rates of government securities which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension
liability.

		

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in
excess of the greater of 10% of the value of the plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation are
charged or credited to income over the average remaining service lives of related employees.

		

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are
conditional on the employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In
this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

		

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension
insurance plans on a contractual basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.

b)
		

c)
		

Other post-retirement obligations
Some Group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement
to these benefits is usually based on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the
completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the
period of employment, using an accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
in excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation
are charged or credited to income over the expected average remaining working lives of the related
employees. These obligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries.
Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to their present value.
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2.14	Employee benefits (Continued)
d)
		

		

Profit sharing and bonus plans
A liability for employee benefits in the form of profit sharing and bonus plans is recognised in other
provisions when there is no realistic alternative but to settle the liability and at least one of the following
conditions is met:
-

there is a formal plan and the amounts to be paid are determined before the time of issuing the
financial statements; or

-

past practice has created a valid expectation by employees that they will receive a bonus/profit
sharing and the amount can be determined before the time of issuing the financial statements.

Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

2.15 Provisions
		

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

		

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

		

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to
the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised in the expense category to
which the provision relates.

2.16 Borrowings
		

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings.

		

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.17 Trade payables
		

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

2.18	Share capital
		

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

		

Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

		

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.
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2.19 Income from investment securities
		

Income from Investment securities comprises interest, dividends, rents and realised profits and losses on sale of
investments.

2.20 Financial assets
		

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss; loans
and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale financial assets. Management determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
(a)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

		

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value
through profit or loss at inception.

		

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profittaking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging
instruments.

		

Financial assets and financial liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss when:
• doing so significantly reduces measurement inconsistencies that would arise if the related derivatives
were treated as held for trading and the underlying financial instruments were carried at amortised
cost for loans and advances to customers or banks and debt securities in issue;
• certain investments, such as equity investments, are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis
in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy and reported to key
management personnel on that basis are designated at fair value through profit or loss; and
• financial instruments, such as debt securities held, containing one or more embedded derivatives
significantly modify the cash flows, are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

		

(b)
		

(c)
		

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction
with designated financial assets or financial liabilities are included in net income from financial instruments
designated at fair value.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in the short
term, which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial recognition designates
as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as
available for sale; or (c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment,
other than because of credit deterioration.
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If
the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category
would be reclassified as available for sale.
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2.20 Financial assets (Continued)
(d)

Available-for-sale financial assets

		

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may
be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

		

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity and available
for sale are recognised on the trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

		

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
when the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities
are derecognised when they are extinguished – that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

		

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are included in the income statement in the period in
which they arise. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial
assets are recognised directly in equity, until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired. At this
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss. However,
interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign currency gains and losses on monetary
assets classified as available for sale are recognised in the income statement. Dividends on available-forsale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement when the entity’s right to receive payment
is established.

		

The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. If there is no active
market for a financial asset, the Group establishes fair value using valuation techniques. These include the
use of recent arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.

2.21 Impairment of financial assets
(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

		

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.

		

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss
include:
• Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
• Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (for example, equity ratio, net income percentage
of sales);
• Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
• Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
• Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position;
• Deterioration in the value of collateral; and
• Downgrading below investment grade level.
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2.21 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(a)
		
		
		

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by local management
for each identified portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between three months and 12 months; in
exceptional cases, longer periods are warranted.
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

		

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan
or held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group
may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

		

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset
reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral,
whether or not foreclosure is probable.

		

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of
similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the basis of the Group’s grading process that considers asset
type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those
characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being
indicative of the customers’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets
being evaluated.

		

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated
on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Group and historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Group. Historical loss experience is adjusted
on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the
period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the
historical period that do not currently exist.

		

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally consistent
with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment
rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses in
the Group and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows
are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

		

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans
are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has
been determined.

		

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the
debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance
account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement in impairment charge for credit
losses.
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2.21 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(b)
		

Assets classified as available for sale
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available for
sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in
determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial
assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed
from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement
on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair
value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment
loss is reversed through the income statement.

2.22 Finance charges
		

Finance charges are taken into income when instalments are received. Under this method interest is calculated
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the outstanding principal balance.

2.23 Leases
		

Assets are held under both finance and operating leases. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the
Group has substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.

		

Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the lease property
or the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between liability and
finance charge so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental
obligations net of finance charges are included in long term payables. The interest element of the finance cost
is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

		

The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful
life of the asset or the lease term.

		

Leases where a significant portion of ownership is retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Rentals under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the period of
the lease.

2.24 Revenue recognition
		

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of Value-Added-Tax, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

		

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of the arrangement.
(a)

		

Revenue from the sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods are transferred to the buyer. Revenue from rendering services is based on the stage of
completion determined by reference to services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be
performed.
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2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(b)
		
(c)
		
(d)
		

(e)

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant
agreement.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.
Fees and commissions
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.
Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct
costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Loan syndication fees
are recognised as revenue when the syndication has been completed and the Group has retained no
part of the loan package for itself or has retained a part at the same effective interest rate as the other
participants. Commission and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a
transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the
purchase or sale of businesses – are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and
other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts,
usually on a time-apportionate basis. Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised
rateably over the period in which the service is provided. The same principle is applied for wealth
management, financial planning and custody services that are continuously provided over an extended
period of time. Performance linked fees or fee components are recognised when the performance criteria
are fulfilled.
Interest income and expense

		

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised within interest income
and finance cost in the income statement using the effective interest method.

		

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment
options) but does not consider future credit losses.

		

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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2.25 Dividend distribution
		

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s directors.

2.26 Fiduciary activities
		

Certain companies in the Group act as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These assets
and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the Group.
These assets under administration at 31 December 2007 totalled $26.2 billion (2006: $17.8 billion).

2.27 Derivative financial instruments
		

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in
active markets, including recent market transactions, and valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow
models and options pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is
positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

		

Changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are included in gains less losses from investment
securities.

2.28 Offsetting financial instruments
		

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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—

12,360

(366,735)

(366,735)

2,771,338

26,688

—

(23,053)

(439,072)

(388,686)

36,596

—

		

(9,621)

(293,432)
(95,254)

(3,280)

(23,053)
—

		

41,397
(14,709)

—
—

(366,735)
—

(3,085)
(195)

			
Minority interest
6,719,501

(9,621)
—

—
—

36,596

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
21,191
15,405
—

36,596

		
3,280
21,981
—
2,744,650
23,053
(50,386)
Equity									
Retained earnings
1,089,456		 (3,085)
(8,416)
(349,368)
16,932
(23,053)
(166,328)
Reserves
695,141
—
(1,205)
(17,367)
24,465
—
(127,104)

		
—
12,360
(366,735)
2,771,338
—
(439,072)
Liabilities									
Insurance contracts
13,879,138		
—
16,268
—
—
—
(28,234)
Borrowings
8,204,031		
—
—
—
182,799
—
1,063
Deferred tax liabilities
1,454,229		
3,280
—
—
—
—
(1,072)
Derivative financial instruments
674,843		
—
—
—
(497,000)
—
—
Trade payables & customers deposits 28,030,159		
—
—
—
161,593
—
(8,215)
Related party advance
1,430,835		
—
—
—
25,721
—
(45,409)
Due to unit fund holders
—		
—
—
—
2,802,834
—
—
Taxation Payable
330,060		
—
—
—
—
—
3,431
Other current liabilities
21,282,947		
—
5,713
—
68,703
23,053
27,558
Bank overdrafts
767,715
—
—
—
—
—
492

6,609,343

556,138
573,930

13,867,172
8,387,893
1,456,437
177,843
28,183,537
1,411,147
2,802,834
354,682
21,423,379
768,207

6,516,887
1,386,978
1,957,745
7,705,458

3,677,120
13,853,240
2,707,420
279,032
1,700,208
23,025,462
1,227,699
1,596,120
54,090
2,017,352

Restated

Adjustments to previously reported financial position were made in accordance with IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

					
Reclassify
					
financial
			 Change in
Change in
assets to Consolidation
Provide for		
Reclassify
Balance Sheet ($’000)
As		 deferred
accounting
investment in
of Core
litigation
Prior year
assets and
31 December 2006
previously		
tax
policy
associate
Mutual Fund
settlements
errors
liabilities
reported		 (Note (i))
(Note (ii))
(Note (iii))
(Note (iv))
(Note (v))
(Note (vi))
(Note (vii))
Assets									
Investment properties
2,330,602		
—
—
—
1,189,522
—
—
156,996
Property, plant and equipment
14,307,771		
—
—
—
—
—
(18,503)
(436,028)
Intangible assets
2,528,852		
—
—
—
—
—
178,568
—
Land held for development
—		
—
—
—
—
—
—
279,032
Investment in associates
1,125,628		
—
—
695,918
—
—
—
(121,338)
Financial assets
23,280,586		
—
5,600
(1,062,653)
550,048
—
(277,070)
528,951
Deferred tax assets
1,286,775		
—
1,848
—
—
—
(60,924)
—
Other assets
784,892		
—
—
—
811,228
—
—
—
Taxation Recoverable
17,494		
—
—
—
—
—
—
36,596
Inventories
2,019,972		
—
—
—
—
—
(2,620)
—
Trade receivables and
loans receivable
6,557,835		
—
—
—
—
—
(40,948)
—
Other current assets
3,508,033		
—
(580)
—
56,016
—
(218,746) (1,957,745)
Statutory deposits with Central Bank
—		
—
—
—
—
—
—
1,957,745
Cash and cash equivalents
7,941,884
—
5,492
—
164,524
—
1,171
(407,613)
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1,414,422
1,153,504

		
—
—
—
—
—
(44,202)
Other income									
Other operating income
1,661,204		
—
(640)
—
(30,323)
—
(215,819)
Investment income
1,014,889
—
—
(8,122)
146,737
—
—
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27,985

—

(23,053)

(187,704)

—

(535)

		

(748)

1,490,481
713,003

—
—

2,313,018
(109,534)

2,975,561
(995,114)
332,571

2,203,484

(23,053)
—

(90,954)
6,261
(18)

—

—
—

(23,053)
—
—

Profit for the year
2,387,539
(748)
(535)
27,985
—
(23,053)
(187,704)
Attributable to									
Minority interest
1,497,122		
—
—
—
(3,524)
—
(3,117)
Equity holders
890,417
(748)
(535)
27,985
3,524
(23,053)
(184,587)

27,985
—

2,094
(2,094)
—

—
—

(1,449)
914

(8,122)
—
36,107

(84,711)
(102,993)

—
(748)

2,394,246		
(6,707)

Profit before taxation
Taxation

(1,831)
—
382

—
—
—

—
—
—

72,776

3,097,427		
(999,281)		
296,100

(23,053)

Profit from operations
Finance costs
Share of profit of associates

(114,320)

—

—

—

		

(609)

—
—
—
—

—

		
—
(640)
(8,122)
116,414
—
(215,819)
Expenses									
Writeback/(impairment) of assets
65,167		
—
—
—
(62,149)
—
(60,923)
Administration expenses
(2,140,636)		
—
—
—
(4,328)
(23,053)
(11,005)
Distribution expenses
(594,633)		
—
—
—
(5,491)
—
—
Operating expenses
(1,604,816)
—
(609)
—
(42,352)
—
144,704

—
—

(57,905)
(2,179,022)
(600,124)
(1,503,073)

3,157,868
(1,976,064)

		
—
(582)
—
—
—
96,291
—
Net Interest Income										
Interest income
3,305,132		
—
—
—
—
—
(44,202)
(103,062)
Interest on customer deposits
(2,079,126)
—
—
—
—
—
—
103,062
—

5,549,625
8,712,473
(4,997,433)
(5,699,326)

—
—
—
—

Restated

Net revenue									
Net insurance premium income
5,542,058		
—
(423)
—
—
—
7,990
Other revenue
8,589,615		
—
—
—
—
—
122,858
Insurance benefits/claims
(4,997,274)		
—
(159)
—
—
—
—
Other direct expenses
(5,664,769)
—
—
—
—
—
(34,557)

Consolidation
of Core
Mutual Fund
(Note (iv))

Reclassify
income and
expense
(Note (vii))

Reclassify
financial
assets to
investment in
associate
(Note (iii))
Provide for		
litigation
Prior year
settlements
errors
(Note (v))
(Note (vi))
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			 Change in
Change in
Profit and Loss Account
As		 deferred
accounting
Year ended 31 December 2006
previously		
tax
policy
($’000)
reported		 (Note (i))
(Note (ii))
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2.29 Comparatives (Continued)
Note (i) –

A general insurance subsidiary has provided for an additional deferred tax liability on transfers
to the Catastrophe Reserve in accordance with Section 49A of the Insurance Act 1980. The
Corporation Tax Act allows for a tax deduction in respect of transfers to this fund.

Note (ii) –

A life insurance subsidiary previously calculated its provision for unearned premium in
accordance with the applicable Insurance laws. During the year, the accounting policy was
changed to generally accepted accounting principles to record 100% of the amount calculated.
Following the above, the calculation of unearned premiums, commission, premium tax expense
were revised as well as the tax effect of the net adjustment.

Note (iii) –

During the year, equity investments previously classified as ‘held for sale’ were transferred to
investment in associates. At 31 December 2006, the Group did not meet the IFRS 5 criteria for
extending the original classification of these investments beyond the initial period of one year.
Consequently the Group reclassified this investment as an investment in associates retrospectively
from 31 December 2004 as required by IFRS 5.

Note (iv) –

During the year, a decision was made to consolidate the financial statements of a mutual fund
that is under administration by a life insurance subsidiary. The decision was based on the
fact that although the funds are not considered special purpose entities, the return on the fund
is guaranteed by the Group’s Parent Company. At 31 December 2006, the fair value of the
guarantee which has always been recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
was more than 50% of the fund’s net asset value and being for a fixed term constitutes the need
for the mutual fund to be consolidated within the Group’s financial statements.

Note (v) –

This relates to settlements for litigation on behalf of a Real Estate subsidiary that were not
included in the 31 December 2006 financial statements.

Note (vi) –

These relate to correction of errors in the prior year financial statements of various subsidiaries
related to the following:
– Incorrect valuation of certain investments designated as available-for-sale in prior periods.
– In accordance with IAS 18 – Revenue, loan origination fees were restated to reflect these fees
along with direct related costs that are now to be amortised and recognised as an adjustment
to the effective yield on the loan. In previous years, the impact of this accounting treatment
was determined to be immaterial and as such not recorded but during the current year, a
decision was taken to record the adjustment retrospectively
– Incorrect valuation of inventories in prior periods
– Incorrect valuation of certain insurance contracts
– Incorrect valuation of certain trade receivables

Note (vii) –

These relate to changes in presentation being made to the Group’s financial Statements. These
changes had no effect on the Group’s consolidated profit after tax or net assets for the year
ended 31 December 2006.
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Financial Risk Management
a) Financial risk factors

		

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in debt and
equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the financial performance of the Group.

		

Risk management is carried out by individual operating units within the Group under policies approved by the
Board of Directors of the individual subsidiary company.
i)

Foreign exchange risk

		

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures primarily with respect to US dollars, Sterling, Euros and Barbados dollars.

		

The Company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to currency
translation risk. Currency exposure to the net assets of the Group’s subsidiaries in the United Kingdom,
Switzerland, Barbados and Guyana is managed primarily through borrowings denominated in the relevant
foreign currencies.

ii)
		

iii)
		
iv)
		

Interest rate risk
Differences in contractual re-pricing or maturity dates and changes in interest rates may expose the Group
to interest rate risk. The effective interest rates and periods to maturity of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in the individual operating subsidiary financial statements.
Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions. Liquidity risk is managed at the individual operating units level.

b) Fair value estimation
		

c)

The carrying amounts of the following financial assets and financial liabilities approximate to their fair value:
Cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade receivables and payables, other receivables and payables,
borrowings and dividends.
Capital management

		

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

		

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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Financial Risk Management (Continued)
c)

		

Capital management (continued)
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and
non-current borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital
is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

		
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2007 and 2006 were as follows:
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

Borrowings (Note 23)		
Short term loans (Note 28)		
Bank overdrafts (Note 19)		
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 19)

16,689,605		
2,871,840		
752,550		
(9,486,360)

11,030,157
3,298,818
768,207
(7,705,458)

Net debt		
Total equity

10,827,635		
889,878

7,391,724
1,137,568

Total Capital

11,717,513

8,529,292

92%

87%

Gearing ratio
4

Critical Accounting Estimates And Judgments
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
4.1

		

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are outlined below.
(a)

Estimate of future benefit payments and premiums arising from long-term insurance contracts

		

The determination of the liabilities under long-term insurance contracts is dependent on estimates of future
experience of the portfolio of insurance contracts and the future experience of the underlying assets.

		

Detailed analyses are carried out by the Group’s actuarial departments in conjunction with consulting
actuaries.

		

Estimates are made as to the expected number of deaths in future years. These estimates are based on
standard industry and international mortality tables that reflect recent historical mortality experience,
adjusted where appropriate to reflect the Group’s own experience. For contracts that insure the risk of
longevity, appropriate but not excessively prudent allowance is made for expected mortality improvements.
The estimated number of deaths determines the value of the benefit payments and the value of the future
premiums expected to be received. The main source of uncertainty is that epidemics such as AIDS and
wide-ranging lifestyle changes, such as in eating, smoking and exercise habits, could result in future
mortality being significantly worse than in the past for the ages in which the Group has significant
exposure to mortality risk. However, continuing improvements in medical care and social conditions
could result in improvements in longevity in excess of those allowed for in the estimates used to determine
the liability for contracts where the Group is exposed to longevity risk.

		

Under certain contracts, the Group has offered guaranteed annuity options. Under the current conditions
this option is not “in the money”. Consequently, the Actuary has not included additional reserves for this
option.

		

Estimates are also made as to future investment income arising from the assets backing long-term insurance
and annuity contracts.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments (Continued)
4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)
(b)

		

(c)
		

(d)
		

(e)
		

(f)
		

(g)
		

Estimate arising from claims made under insurance contracts
The estimation of the liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is one of the Group’s
accounting estimates. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be considered in the estimate
of the liability that the Group will ultimately pay for such claims.
Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.4. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 9).
Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which
such determination is made.
Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, private
companies) is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select a variety
of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance
sheet date. The Group uses discounted cash flow analysis for various available-for-sale financial assets
that were not traded in active markets.
Fair value of investment properties
Investment properties are carried at fair value with changes in fair value taken to the income statement.
The fair value of investment properties are based on a number of variables which require significant
judgement including the estimation of future rentals, the discounting of future cash flows and the estimation
of market value based on current market conditions. Differences between the estimates made and actual
experience may have a significant effect on the financial statements.
Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the Group makes judgments as to
whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change
in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with
defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when
scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount
and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates
and actual loss experience.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments (Continued)
4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)
(h)

		

(i)
		

5

Impairment of available for-sale equity investments
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant
or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates among other factors,
the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence
of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in
technology, and operational and financing cash flows.
Held-to-maturity investments
The Group follows the IAS 39 guidance on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity as held to maturity. This classification requires significant
judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments
to maturity. If the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances
– for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – it will be required to reclassify the entire
category as available for sale. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value not amortised
cost.

Management Of Insurance Risk
5.1

Insurance risk

		

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of
the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and therefore
unpredictable.

		

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the
principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments
exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency of claims and
benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount of claims
and benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using statistical techniques.

		

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability
about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across
the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance underwriting
strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a
sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.

		

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk,
geographical location and type of industry covered.
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Management Of Insurance Risk (Continued)
5.1.1 Long Term Insurance Contracts and Long Term Annuities
i)

Frequency and severity of claims

		

For contracts where death is the insured risk (life insurance), the most significant factors that could increase
the overall frequency of claims are epidemics (such as AIDS) or wide spread changes in lifestyle, such
as eating, smoking and exercise habits, resulting in claims occurring earlier than expected or in greater
numbers than expected. For contracts where survival is the insured risk (annuity), the most significant
factor is continued improvement in medical science and social conditions that would increase longevity.

		

The Group manages its mortality risks through its underwriting strategy and reinsurance arrangements.

		

Asset/Interest Rate Risk: this is especially significant for some types of long term insurance products. If
new money rates were to rise appreciably, policyholders would want to cash in their policies (where
cash values are provided) and move their money elsewhere where they can benefit from higher market
rates, while at the same time that the insurer needs cash to pay the policyholder, the assets may have
depreciated in market value.

		

Insurance risk for contracts disclosed in this note is also affected by the contract holders’ right to pay
reduced or no future premiums, to terminate the contract completely, or to exercise a guaranteed annuity
option. As a result, the amount of insurance risk is also subject to contract holder behaviour. On the
assumption that contract holders will make decisions rationally, overall insurance risk can be assumed
to be aggravated by such behaviour. For example, it is likely that contract holders whose health has
deteriorated significantly will be less inclined to terminate contracts insuring death benefits than those
contract holders remaining in good health. This results in an increasing trend of expected mortality, as
the portfolio of insurance contracts reduces due to voluntary terminations.

		

The Group has factored the impact of contract holders behaviour into the assumptions used to measure
these liabilities.

ii)

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments and premium receipts

		

Uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments and premium receipts for long-term insurance
contracts arises from the unpredictability of long-term changes in overall levels of mortality and the
variability in contract holder behaviour.

		

The Group uses appropriate base tables of standard mortality according to the type of contract being
written and the territory in which the insured person resides. An investigation into the actual experience
of the Group over the last three years is carried out, and statistical methods are used to adjust the crude
mortality rates to produce a best estimate of expected mortality for the future. Where data is sufficient
to be statistically credible, the statistics generated by the data are used without reference to an industry
table. Where this is not the case, the best estimate of future mortality is based on standard industry tables
adjusted for the Group’s overall experience. For contracts that insure survival, an adjustment is made
for future mortality improvements based on trends identified in the data and in the continuous mortality
investigations performed by independent actuarial bodies. The impact of any historical evidence of
selective termination behaviour will be reflected in this experience. The Group maintains voluntary
termination statistics to investigate the deviation of actual termination experience against assumptions.
Statistical methods are used to determine appropriate termination rates. An allowance is then made for
any trends in the data to arrive at a best estimate of future termination rates.
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Management Of Insurance Risk (Continued)
5.1.1 Long Term Insurance Contracts and Long Term Annuities (continued)
iii)

		

Guaranteed annuity options
The amount of insurance risk under contracts with guaranteed annuity options is also dependent on
the number of contract holders that will exercise their option (‘option take-up rate’). This will depend
significantly on the investment conditions that apply when the options can be exercised. The lower the
current market interest rates in relation to the rates implicit in the guaranteed annuity rates, the more likely
it is that contract holders will exercise their options. Continuing improvements in longevity reflected in
current annuity rates will increase the likelihood of contract holders exercising their options as well as
increasing the level of insurance risk borne by the Group under the annuities issued. The Group does
not have sufficient historical data on which to base its estimate of the number of contract holders who will
exercise their options.

5.1.2	Short-duration life insurance contracts
i)
		

Frequency and severity of claims
These contracts are mainly issued to employers to insure their commitments to their employees in terms of
their pension fund and other employee benefit plans. The risk is affected by the nature of the industry in
which the employer operates, in addition to the factors in Note 5.1.1. The risk of death and disability
will vary by industry. Undue concentration of risk by industry will therefore increase the risk of a change
in the underlying average mortality or morbidity of employees in a given industry, with significant effects
on the overall insurance risk.

ii)	Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments
		

There is no need to estimate mortality rates or morbidity rates for future years since these contracts have
short duration. However, for incurred disability income claims, it is necessary to estimate the rates of
recovery from disability for future years. Standard recovery tables produced by reinsurers are used
as well as the actual experience of the Group. The influence of economic circumstances on the actual
recovery rate for individual contracts is the key source of uncertainty for these estimates.

6
Investment Properties		
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

Balance at beginning of year		
Additions		
Impairment		
Disposals		
Transfers to fixed assets (Note 7)		
Transfers to land held for development (Note 8)		
Fair value gains		
Foreign currency translation differences

3,677,120		
841,469		
(187,915)		
(145,105)
—		
(3,934)
469,944		
11,605

2,701,231
715,301
(62,149)
(19,223)
(11,473)
(22,072)
306,170
69,335

Balance at end of year

4,663,184

3,677,120

The investment properties are valued annually on 31 December at fair value, comprising market value. Some are
valued by independent professionally qualified valuators and others are valued using internal directors’ valuations.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
The Group’s land and buildings were last revalued at varying times between 31 December 2004 and 31 December
2007 by a combination of independent valuators and directors. Valuations were made on the basis of recent market
transactions on arm’s length terms. The revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income taxes was credited to
fair value reserves in shareholders’ equity.
If land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:

		
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

Cost		
Accumulated depreciation

1,113,996		
(52,357)

1,034,242
(43,835)

Net book amount

1,061,639

990,407

Freehold land and buildings of certain subsidiaries with a carrying value of $955 million (2006: $903 million) have
not been re-valued and are currently being carried at historical cost less depreciation. It is expected that these will
be re-valued in 2008 and a revaluation surplus will arise which will be credited to the revaluation reserves contained
within the shareholders’ equity component of the balance sheet.
Depreciation expense of $878,010,000 (2006: $762,114,000) has been charged in the income statement as
follows:
Other direct expenses
Administration expenses		
Operating expenses
		

594,480		
244,322		
39,208

513,893
215,838
32,383

878,010

762,114

The amount of borrowing costs capitalised during the year on assets in progress and plant and machinery totalled
$97,882,000 (2006: $102,043,000).
Property, plant and equipment with a book value of $4,658,000,000 (2006:$4,107,000,000) are pledged as
security for borrowings.
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Net Book Value
2,471,992
656,699
6,303,914
						

132,507

Closing net book amount
2,471,992
656,699
6,303,914
132,507
						
At 31 December 2006 (Restated)						
Cost or valuation		 2,671,447
1,190,741
10,591,045
187,517
Accumulated Depreciation
(199,455)
(534,042)
(4,287,131)
(55,010)

13,853,240

18,928,878
(5,075,638)

4,288,128
—
4,288,128

13,853,240

4,288,128

11,473
41,915
(762,114)
—

11,372,147
2,859,635
(47,267)
375,019
(18,608)
21,040

2,100,744
2,174,295
(3,838)
—
—
1,745
—
12,688
—
2,494

11,372,147

15,717,874
(4,345,727)

Total
$’000

2,100,744

2,100,744
—

At 1 January 2006						
Cost or valuation		 2,113,976
897,029
10,474,587
131,538
Accumulated Depreciation
(151,000)
(404,248)
(3,740,112)
(50,367)

Net Book Value
1,962,976
492,781
6,734,475
81,171
						
Year Ended 31 December 2006
(Restated)						
Opening net book value 		 1,962,976
492,781
6,734,475
81,171
Additions		
353,705
185,361
90,295
55,979
Disposals		
(37,814)
(2,099)
(3,516)
—
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 38)		
269,359
103,898
1,762
—
Disposal of subsidiary (Note 39)		
(6,861)
(1,744)
(10,003)
—
Revaluation		
10,517
8,778
—
—
Transfer from investment properties
(Note 6)		
11,473
—
—
—
Foreign exchange adjustments		
6,134
(2,941)
26,034
—
(143,029)
(545,697)
(4,643)
Depreciation (Note 30)		
(68,745)
Other adjustments/transfers
(28,752)
15,694
10,564
—

Assets in
Progress
$’000

Plant &
Machinery &
Turnaround
Costs
$’000
Oil &
Gas
Assets
$’000

			 Freehold,
Motor
			 Leasehold
Vehicles,
			
Land &
Furniture &
			 Buildings	Equipment
			
$’000
$’000
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Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

59

Net Book Value

2,785,462

766,955

9,768,852

175,735

20,034,784

25,979,454
(5,944,670)

6,537,780
—
6,537,780

20,034,784

13,853,240
7,259,496
(460,603)
203,107
(7,820)
36,433
28,941
(878,010)
—

Total
$’000

6,537,780

4,288,128
5,940,620
(274,007)
4,488
—
2,854
14,075
(694)
(3,437,684)

Year Ended 31 December 2007						
Opening net book value		 2,471,992
656,699
6,303,914
132,507
Additions		 393,478
289,433
574,817
61,148
Disposals		
(94,734)
(11,319)
(80,440)
(103)
Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 38)		
75,686
10,700
112,233
—
Disposal of subsidiary (Note 39)		
(6,473)
—
(1,347)
—
Revaluation		
25,316
8,263
—
—
Foreign exchange adjustments		
23,582
(2,104)
(6,612)
—
Depreciation (Note 30)		
(62,375)
(178,826)
(618,298)
(17,817)
Other adjustments/transfers
(41,010)
(5,891)
3,484,585
—

Closing net book amount
2,785,462
766,955
9,768,852
175,735
						
At 31 December 2007						
Cost or valuation		 3,038,817
1,511,639
14,642,554
248,664
(253,355)
(744,684)
(4,873,702)
(72,929)
Accumulated Depreciation

Assets in
Progress
$’000

Plant &
Machinery &
Turnaround
Costs
$’000
Oil &
Gas
Assets
$’000

			 Freehold,
Motor
			 Leasehold
Vehicles,
			
Land &
Furniture &
			 Buildings	Equipment
			
$’000
$’000
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Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
		
Oil and Gas assets included above are further analysed as follows:
			
			
			
			

Exploration 				
Total
and 		 Production/		 Oil and Gas
evaluation		 Development		
Assets
$’000		
$’000		
$’000

Year Ended 31 December 2007			
Opening net book amount		
64,001		
Additions		
55,145		
Disposals		
—		
Depreciation
—		
Closing net book amount
119,146		
			
At 31 December 2007			
Cost 		
119,146		
Accumulated Depreciation
—		

68,506		
6,003		
(103)		
(17,817)		

132,507
61,148
(103)
(17,817)

56,589		

175,735

129,518		
(72,929)		

248,664
(72,929)

Net Book Value
119,146		
				
			
Year Ended 31 December 2006			
Opening net book amount		
61,710		
Additions		
2,291		
Depreciation
—		

56,589		

175,735

19,461		
53,688		
(4,643)		

81,171
55,979
(4,643)

Closing net book amount
64,001		
			
At 31 December 2006			
Cost		
64,001		
Accumulated Depreciation
—		

68,506		

132,507

123,516		
(55,010)		

187,517
(55,010)

68,506		

132,507

69,828		
(50,367)		

131,538
(50,367)

61,710		

19,461		

81,171

8
Land held for development		
			

2007		
$’000		

2006
$’000

Balance at beginning of year		
Additions		
Disposals		
Transfer from investment properties (Note 6)		
Revaluation		
Impairment

279,032		
1,162		
(31,718)		
3,934		
1,106		
(23,260)

252,841
4,119
—
22,072
—
—

Balance at end of year

230,256

279,032

Net Book Value
64,001		
			
At 31 December 2005			
Cost 		
61,710		
Accumulated Depreciation
—		
Net Book Value
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Intangible Assets

				 Brands and
			 Goodwill Trademarks
			
$’000
$’000

Patents
and Other
$’000

Year ended 31 December 2007					
Opening net book amount		 2,491,025
166,130
39,260
Additions arising from business
combinations 		
—
1,679
214,900
Adjustments arising from subsequent
identifications		
(62,660)
—
25,862
Exchange differences
—
8,661
1,860
Impairment/amortisation (Note 30)
(73,295)
(16,241)
(73,131)

Licences
$’000

Total
$’000

11,005 2,707,420
—

216,579

—
—
—

(36,798)
10,521
(162,667)

Closing net book amount
2,355,070
160,229
208,751
					
At 31 December 2007					
Gross amount		 2,631,123
179,440
282,347
Accumulated impairment/amortisation
(276,053)
(19,211)
(73,596)

11,005 2,735,055

Net book amount
2,355,070
160,229
208,751
				
At 1 January 2006					
Gross amount		 2,881,138
235,173
71,251
Accumulated impairment/amortisation
(286,724)
(5,136)
(13,164)

11,005 2,735,055

Net book amount
2,594,414
230,037
58,087
					
Year ended 31 December 2006
(Restated)					
Opening net book amount		 2,594,414
230,037
58,087
Additions arising from business
combinations 		
105,535
678
18,365
Additions arising from increased
shareholding in subsidiaries		
15,235
—
—
Adjustments arising from subsequent
identifications		
(60,063)
(65,340)
41,929
Reclassification from investment in
associates		
24,898
—
—
Exchange differences		
—
11,435
9,051
Impairment/amortisation (Note 30)
(188,994)
(10,680)
(88,172)
Closing net book amount
2,491,025
166,130
39,260
					
At 31 December 2006 (Restated)					
Gross amount		 2,693,783
169,100
39,725
Accumulated impairment/amortisation
(202,758)
(2,970)
(465)
Net book amount
2,491,025
166,130
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39,260

13,026 3,105,936
(2,021) (370,881)

13,026
(2,021)

3,200,588
(307,045)

11,005

2,893,543

11,005

2,893,543

—

124,578

—

15,235

—

(83,474)

—
—
—

24,898
20,486
(287,846)

11,005

2,707,420

13,026
(2,021)

2,915,634
(208,214)

11,005

2,707,420
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Intangible Assets (Continued)
Other intangibles include debt issuance and package design costs that meet the definition of an intangible asset.
The carrying amount of certain intangibles has been reduced to its recoverable amount through recognition of an
impairment loss against the value of the intangible assets. This loss has been included in administration expenses in
the income statement.
Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified by subsidiary. A summary of the goodwill
for significant CGUs is presented below:
				
2007		
2006
		
Basis of		
$’000		
$’000
		
Recoverable Amount				
Restated
					
Republic Bank Limited
Fair Value		
1,367,449		
1,367,449
Barbados National Bank Inc.
Value-in-Use		
328,000		
328,000
Dextra Bank and Trust
Value-in-Use		
63,500
63,500
Burn Stewart Distillers Limited
Value-in-Use		
95,297
95,297
British American Insurance Company Limited
Value-in-Use		
101,604		
101,604
Angostura Holdings Limited
Fair Value		
99,318		
99,318
Republic Bank (Guyana) Limited
Value-in-Use		
96,000		
96,000
Angostura Suisse
Value-in-Use		
115,857		
189,152
Other cash-generating units
Value-in-Use
88,045
150,705
			

2,355,070

2,491,025

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use calculations.
Fair Value
Fair value for Republic Bank Limited is based on quoted market prices. Fair value calculations for other companies
are based on using best estimates of market multiples of revenue and earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation.
Based on the result of this review, impairment expenses of $73.2 million (2006: $189.0 million) were written off in
the income statement.
Value in Use
Value in use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by senior management.
Discount rates ranging from 10% to 18% (2006: 10% to 18%) were used over cash flow projection periods ranging
from between three to five years (2006: three to five years). The growth rate used ranged from 5% to 10% (2006:
5% - 10%). The values assigned to key assumptions reflect past performance. Based on the results of this review, an
impairment expense of $ nil (2006: $ nil) was written off in the income statement.
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2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

Balance at beginning of year		
Reclassification to subsidiary		
Investment in associates		
Goodwill on increased shareholding		
Goodwill impairment (Note 30)		
Disposal of associates		
Share of reserves		
Share of profits before tax
Share of tax (Note 31)

1,700,208		
—		
15,400
65,027		
—		
(205,465)
(204,743)		
384,832		
(10,350)

1,617,557
(24,898)
108,511
41,929
(10,835)
(140,713)
(217,182)
332,571
(6,732)

Balance at end of year

1,744,909

1,700,208

During 2006 Tobago Plantations Limited was reclassified from being a joint venture to a subsidiary.
Investments in associates at 31 December 2007 include goodwill of $398,137,000 (2006: $358,865,000).
Accumulated impairment amounts to $21,670,000 (2006: $21,670,000).
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United States of America

Europa LLC
Guyana

United States of America

United Image Technologies Inc.

Berbice Bridge Company Inc

United States of America

United Systems and Software Inc.

Jamaica

Trinidad and Tobago

Agostini’s Limited

Jamaican Money Market Brokers Limited

Trinidad and Tobago

LJ Williams Limited

Trinidad and Tobago & St. Lucia

Trinidad and Tobago

Nitrogen (2000) Unlimited

G4S Holdings (Trinidad) Limited,
Infolink Services Limited & Eastern
Caribbean Financial Holdings Limited,
The Home Mortgage Bank Limited

Trinidad and Tobago

Caribbean Nitrogen Company Limited

Bermuda

United States of America

Southern Chemical Corporation

Bram-Ber Holdings Limited

Trinidad and Tobago

One Caribbean Media Limited

252,869

109,097

764

12,076

9,893,363

375,913

112,279

6,519,730

2,143,896

1,897,913

9,314

2,805,323

803,264

211,562

6,504

4,174

11,042

9,249,958

186,607

41,576

5,531,870

1,097,422

927,795

—

2,766,723

130,666

1,469

19,598

1,905

38,461

883,453

449,296

145,345

647,346

1,046,474

970,118

1,052

5,834,513

482,268

						
Name
Country of
Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
		
incorporation
($’000)
($’000)
($’000)

The assets, liabilities and results of Group’s associates as at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

10 Investment in Associates (Continued)

(451)

7,399

(244)

3,598

102,551

27,977

11,721

161,311

505,676

428,866

1,027

35,779

88,575

Profit/
(Loss)
($’000)

20.00

25.00

49.00

49.00

40.00

35.20

23.00

20.00 – 25.00

27.20

30.28

40.00

48.75

33.10

%
interest
held
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United States of America

Europa LLC
Guyana

United States of America

United Image Technologies Inc.

Berbice Bridge Company Inc

United States of America

Jamaica

Trinidad and Tobago

United Systems and Software Inc.

Jamaican Money Market Brokers Limited

Agostini’s Limited

Trinidad and Tobago & St. Lucia

Trinidad and Tobago

Nitrogen (2000) Unlimited

G4S Holdings (Trinidad) Limited,
Infolink Services Limited & Eastern
Caribbean Financial Holdings Limited,
The Home Mortgage Bank Limited

Trinidad and Tobago

Caribbean Nitrogen Company Limited

Bermuda

United States of America

Southern Chemical Corporation

Bram-Ber Holdings Limited

Trinidad and Tobago

One Caribbean Media Limited

152,247

133,746

461

18,934

8,657,191

339,569

5,397,458

2,320,782

2,078,269

9,701

1,572,079

719,849

117,962

6,473

3,612

21,019

7,964,642

169,644

4,812,284

1,269,162

1,099,604

206

1,556,083

106,990

900

19,509

2,254

31,443

817,265

384,740

396,336

1,315,659

1,084,243

1,065

3,980,652

447,862

						
Name
Country of
Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
		
incorporation
($’000)
($’000)
($’000)

The assets, liabilities and results of Group’s associates as at December 31, 2006 are as follows:

10 Investment in Associates (Continued)

(94)

7,365

(1,851)

(2,443)

106,125

21,992

91,460

549,372

428,866

1,059

28,890

86,865

Profit/
(Loss)
($’000)

20.00

25.00

49.00

49.00

40.00

35.20

20.00 – 25.00

27.20

30.28

40.00

48.75

33.10

%
interest
held
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31 December 2007
11 Financial Assets
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					
Financial assets include the following:

2006
$’000
Restated

Held-for-Sale		

—		

1,480,946

Available-for-Sale
Bonds and treasury bills
Quoted securities		
Other		

2,840,362		
10,977,263		
3,035,264		

3,626,446
9,448,366
1,946,342

Held-to-Maturity		

1,094,381		

2,637,505

Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss		

1,339,879		

1,878,507

Loans and receivables
Policy loans		
Other loans and receivables

289,456		
1,362,838

242,324
1,765,026

20,939,443

		

23,025,462

Included in investments above are securities valued at $6,802 million (2006: $6,824 million) which are pledged to
third parties.
At the end of 2006 the financial assets held-for-sale represent the Group’s investment in Belvedere S.A. During 2007
the Group disposed of Belvedere S.A.
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12 Deferred Taxation			
				
(Credited)/		
			 31 December
Income
Charged	Exchange
			
2006	Statement
to Equity
differences
			
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Deferred tax assets				
Provisions		
(67,606)
(18,298)
Tax losses		 (1,145,329)
332,668
Other
(14,764)
(19,304)

		
(652)
—
15,548
(21)
(91,705)
—

		
(1,227,699)
295,066
(76,809)
					
Deferred tax liabilities					
Accelerated depreciation		
683,346
40,075
(723)
Pension asset		
243,302
33,107
—
Gain on available for sale
Investments		
433,546
42,164
—
Other
96,243
16,707
40,084
		
1,456,437
132,053
					
Net deferred tax liabilities
228,738
427,119

(21)

(1,009,463)
722,746
276,409

—
—

475,710
153,034

39,361

48

1,627,899

(37,448)

27

618,436

Deferred tax assets					
Provisions		
—
(8,387)
(59,138)
Tax losses		
(951,453)
(205,276)
11,422
Other
—
(1,302)
(13,462)

31 December
2006
$’000

(81)
(22)
—

(67,606)
(1,145,329)
(14,764)

(103)

(1,227,699)

(1,222)
(2)

683,346
243,302

—
—
—

433,546
—
96,243

(19,283)

(1,224)

1,456,437

(80,461)

(1,327)

228,738

		
(951,453)
(214,965)
(61,178)
					
Deferred tax liabilities					
Accelerated depreciation		
892,758
(146,998)
(61,192)
Pension asset		
242,444
6,153
(5,293)
Gain on available for sale
Investments		
433,546
—
—
Provisions		
5,020
—
(5,020)
Other
53,771
(9,750)
52,222
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(86,556)
(797,134)
(125,773)

48
—

				
(Credited)/		
			 31 December
Income
Charged	Exchange
			
2005	Statement
to Equity
differences
			
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

		
1,627,539
(150,595)
					
Net deferred tax liabilities
676,086
(365,560)

31 December
2007
$’000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2007
12 Deferred Taxation (Continued)			
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of $1,101
million (2006: $700 million) in respect of losses amounting to $4,200 million (2006: $2,610 million) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. Losses amounting to $202.6 million (2006: $160.8 million) expire at
varying times between 2008 and 2016.
13 Retirement Benefit Assets			
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					
Balance sheet asset for retirement benefits
Income statement credit for retirement benefits

2006
$’000
Restated

1,192,406

1,076,582

75,213

37,582

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of funded defined benefit obligations
			
Unrecognised past service credit		
Unutilisable surplus		
Unrecognised actuarial gains
Net assets recognised on the balance sheet
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
Current service cost		
Interest on obligation		
Expected return on plan assets		
Unutilisable Surplus		
Past service cost
Net gain recognised in the income statement (administration expenses)

3,712,777		
(2,109,655)

3,314,551
(1,930,216)

1,603,122		
—		
(50,754)		
(359,962)

1,384,335
(30,222)
—
(277,531)

1,192,406

1,076,582

(76,433)		
(161,179)		
318,500		
(3,557)		
(2,118)
75,213

(78,017)
(146,956)
297,295
(28,163)
(6,577)
37,582

The movement in the defined benefit obligations over the year
is as follows:
Balance at beginning of year
Current service cost		
Interest cost		
Contributions by plan participants		
Actuarial losses/(gains)		
Exchange differences		
Benefits paid		
Past service cost		
Settlements

1,930,216
76,433		
161,179
7,709		
1,078		
2,602
(71,564)
2,118		
(116)

2,075,431
78,017
146,956
7,377
(336,061)
5,430
(52,433)
6,577
(1,078)

Balance at end of year

2,109,655

1,930,216
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13 Retirement Benefit Assets (Continued)
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					
The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year is as follows:

2006
$’000
Restated

Balance at beginning of year		
Expected return on plan assets		
Company contributions		
Employee contributions		
Expense allowance		
Difference on foreign exchange translation		
Actuarial gain/(loss) on assets		
Benefits paid

3,314,551		
318,500		
42,231		
7,709		
—		
982		
100,368
(71,564)

3,312,677
297,295
25,436
7,377
200
—
(276,001)
(52,433)

Balance at end of year

3,712,777

3,314,551

318,500
100,368

297,295
(276,001)

418,868

21,294

5.5% – 8.75%
6.6% – 10.3%
3.6% – 8.75%
Up to 3%

5.5% – 8.75%
5.5% – 10.3%
3.0% – 8.75%
Up to 3%

The actual return on plan assets is as follows:
Expected return on plan assets		
Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets
		
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:
Discount rate
Return on assets
Salary increases
Pension increases

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice in accordance with published statistics and
experience in each territory.
The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 60 on the balance sheet date is as follows:
21
26

Male
Female
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14 Loans and Advances
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

Loans and advances		
Less provision for loan losses

22,442,141		
(466,918)

20,268,586
(328,807)

Net loans and advances

21,975,223

19,939,779

Provision for loan losses
Balance at beginning of year		
Amounts written back		
Loan impairment expense		
Loan impairment recoveries		
Translation adjustment		
Provision for the year

328,807
(47,298)		
92,909		
(1,093)		
1,371		
92,222

501,809
(95,018)
471
(3,720)
2,902
(77,637)

Balance at end of year

466,918

328,807

15 Other Assets		
Policy acquisition costs deferred (Note 15.1)		
90,770
80,225
Amounts receivable from related parties
1,336,961
1,515,895
						
		
1,427,731
1,596,120
15.1

Policy acquisition costs deferred

		
		

Balance at beginning of year		
Increase

80,225		
10,545

57,645
22,580

		

Balance at end of year

90,770

80,225

16 Inventories		
Production supplies		
Raw materials		
Work in progress		
Finished goods
		

70

456,156		
405,885		
1,815,833		
331,318

403,143
203,317
1,113,473
297,419

3,009,192

2,017,352

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2007
17 Trade and Other Receivables
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

4,337,357		
2,163,156		
898,037

2,982,529
1,702,014
1,832,344

7,398,550

6,516,887

Trade Receivables (net of provisions)		
Investment securities receivable (net of provisions)		
Repurchase receivables (net of provisions)
		
18	Statutory Deposits with Central Bank

Financial institutions within the Group are required to maintain a Reserve Account with the Central Bank. These
Reserve Accounts are non-interest bearing and are not available for use in the Group’s day-to-day operations.
19 Cash and Cash at Bank
Cash at bank and on hand		
Fixed deposits
		

8,690,127		
796,233

7,170,194
535,264

9,486,360

7,705,458

Cash and bank overdrafts include the following for the purposes of the cash flow statement:
Cash and cash equivalent		
Bank overdraft
		

9,486,360		
(752,550)

7,705,458
(768,207)

8,733,810

6,937,251

The bank overdrafts bear interest at rates between 8.0% and 15% (2006: 7.5% and 13.5%). The bank overdrafts
are secured by certain inventories and property, plant and equipment in the amount of $719 million (2006: $730
million).
Cash at bank includes cash held in escrow in the amount of $20.2 million (2006: $20.1 million).
20	Share Capital
Authorised
Unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value
Issued and fully paid
7,500,000 ordinary shares of no par value

7,500

71

7,500

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2007
21 Insurance Contracts
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

17,556,172		
26,647		
217,462		
127,150		
118,777

13,575,413
23,339
111,788
57,421
99,211

18,046,208

13,867,172

Long-term business
Short-term business		
Deposits and premiums paid in advance		
Provision for unearned premiums and unexpired risks		
Claims admitted or intimated but not yet paid
		
21.1

Movement in Insurance Contracts

		
		
		
		
		

Balance at beginning of year		
Valuation premiums received		
Death benefits and other terminations		
Transfer from valuation reserves		
Other movements

13,867,172		
6,098,635		
(2,861,086)		
(221,213)		
971,862

11,560,826
3,560,526
(2,484,782)
505,460
648,882

		
		
		
		

Balance at end of year		
Increase in premiums paid in advance		
Increase in unearned premiums/unexpired risk		
Increase in claims admitted not yet paid

17,855,370
105,674		
65,598		
19,566

13,790,912
59,405
10,222
6,633

18,046,208

13,867,172

			
21.2

Actuarial Valuation

		

The consulting Actuaries for the insurance companies owned by the Group, in their various reports in 2007,
stated that the aggregate amount of the liabilities of each insurance company in relation to its long-term
insurance business as at December 31, 2007, does not exceed the Statutory Fund amount and the aggregate
of insurance contracts shown in the balance sheet.

		

The Canadian Seriatim Policy Premium Method (PPM) was used by most companies in the Group as an
approximation of the Canadian Asset Liability Method (CALM). This method uses a traditional discounted
cash flow valuation platform and is recognised and accepted by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries as an
approximation.

		

The Actuaries valued the policy liability by projecting future policy cash flows and then discounting these cash
flows to the financial statements date at risk adjusted interest rates. Due to uncertainty in the future experience,
a margin for adverse deviation from recent experience is added in deriving future policy cash flow.

		

The policy liability is never less than the policy cash value at the financial statements date ensuring that no
policy is an asset in the financial statements.
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21 Insurance Contracts (Continued)
21.3

Insurance contracts – assumptions and sensitivity
a)

Process used to decide on assumptions

		

At each financial reporting date, the valuation assumption for each component of policy cash flow consists
of an assumption for the expected experience and separately, a margin for adverse deviation that reflects
the degree of uncertainty in the expected experience assumption. The expected experience and the
margin reflect the latest current experiences. The assumptions used for the long-term insurance contracts
are as follows:

		

Mortality

		

For long-term life insurance policies, the mortality assumptions are made based on 1986-92 Canadian
Institute of Actuaries Select and Ultimate mortality tables. An investigation into the mortality experience is
performed and the mortality tables are adjusted to reflect company experience and territory differences.
Additional provisions for AIDS extra mortality based on US experience are added to the expected
mortality assumptions. Additional margin was provided for uncertainty in setting the expected mortality
assumptions.

		

For individual payout and payout annuity policies, the mortality assumptions are based on the 1983 Society
of Actuaries Individual Annuitant Mortality tables. Mortality improvement is assumed for past and future
years. Additional margin was provided for uncertainty in setting the expected mortality assumptions.

		

Lapses

		

The expected lapse rate assumptions are based on each company’s experience over the past seven years.
Additional margin was provided for uncertainty in setting the expected lapse assumptions.

		

Interest rates

		

Valuation interest rate assumptions are based on the yield rates of each company’s Statutory Fund
investment portfolio rate of return during the year of valuation. Additional allowances are made for
investment income tax, investment expense, asset default and asset/liability mismatch.
Expenses

		

Policy administrative expense assumptions are made based on each company’s operating experience
during the year of valuation. An expense study is performed by the Group and a per-policy administrative
expense is derived from the analysis results. A future expected rate of expense inflation is assumed based
on the actual rate of inflation in the various countries during the year of valuation.

73

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2007
21 Insurance Contracts (Continued)
21.3 Insurance contracts – assumptions and sensitivity (continued)
b)
		
c)
		

Change in assumptions
The results of the valuation are consistent with prior years.
Sensitivity analysis
Details of the main insurance company of the Group are as follows:
Change in
Policy
Liabilities
$milllion

Percentage
Change

1%

433

4.9%

10%

23

0.3%

					
				
Change in
			
Variable
Variable
					
			
			
			
			

Parallel downward shift of
valuation interest curve
Increase in per-policy
maintenance expense

		

The above analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
The purpose is to provide a measure of sensitivity of the policy liabilities to each individual assumption. In
practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.

22 Investment Contracts
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

466,858		
654,197		
494,237

442,578
637,567
471,135

Corporate investments		
Deposit administration contracts
Managed fund

1,615,292

		

1,551,280

The benefits offered under the Group’s investment contracts are mainly based on the return of the assets of the Group.
This investment mix is unique and cannot be replicated by any benchmark indicator or combinations thereof with
sufficiently high correlation to the assets of the Group. The Group communicates the performance of these contracts
by the change in the unit values in the case of the Managed Fund and by the rate of interest credited in the case of
other investment contracts. The maturity value of these financial liabilities is determined by the fair value of the Group’s
assets at the maturity date. There will be no difference between the carrying amount and the maturity amount at the
valuation date.
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23 Borrowings
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

14,847,125		
1,842,480

8,387,894
2,642,263

Long-term portion of borrowings
Current portion of long-term borrowings (Note 28)

16,689,605

		
			
			
			
			
2007		

Repayable
in
TT
$’000

Repayable
in
US	
$’000

Less than 1 year		
Between 1 and 2 years		
Between 2 and 5 years		
Over 5 years

529,913
608,760
1,029,176
1,182,566

Total

3,350,415

11,030,157

Repayable
in
Bds
$’000

Repayable
in Other
Currencies
$’000

Total
$’000

958,383
417,288
5,072,574
5,232,106

—
799,529
108,197
76,526

354,184
320,403
—
—

1,842,480
2,145,980
6,209,947
6,491,198

11,680,351

984,252

674,587

16,689,605

					
Fixed interest rate range		 7.25% - 18.5% 4.75% - 11.1% 4.25% - 12.7%
Floating interest rate range		Prime/Prime-2%
LIBOR+1%
—

3.6% - 6.2%
Eurobor+2%

			
			
			
2006		

Repayable
in
TT
$’000

Less than 1 year		
Between 1 and 2 years		
Between 2 and 5 years		
Over 5 years

932,111
259,800
176,591
764,932

Repayable
in
Bds
$’000

Repayable
in Other
Currencies
$’000

Total
$’000

1,211,078
979,603
2,110,889
3,139,830

—
349,877
101,456
96,239

499,074
408,677
—
—

2,642,263
1,997,957
2,388,936
4,001,001

2,133,434

7,441,400

547,572

907,751

11,030,157

					
Fixed interest rate range		 7.25% - 18.5% 4.75% - 11.1% 4.25% - 12.7%
Floating interest rate range		Prime/Prime-2%
LIBOR+1%
—

3.6% - 6.2%
Eurobor+2%

Total

Repayable
in
US	
$’000

Total borrowings include secured liabilities (bank and collateralised borrowings) of $15,988 million (2006: $10,165
million). Unsecured borrowings and bank overdrafts at 31 December 2007 totalled $701 million (2006: $865
million). Certain bank and collateralised borrowings are secured as follows:
(i)

Methanol Holdings (Trinidad) Limited has borrowed $2,304 million from KFW IPEX Bank, secured by a
debenture comprising first priority mortgage and charge over the company’s assets together with a first priority
assignment and security agreement with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas. The proceeds of this loan
were used to finance construction of the M5000 Methanol Plant.
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(ii)

Methanol Holdings (Trinidad) Limited has borrowed $4,215 million from KFW IPEX Bank, secured by a
debenture over the assets of the AUM project comprising an Ammonia Plant, a UREA solution plant, a UREA
Ammonium Nitrate Plant and two Melamine plants. The proceeds of this loan were to finance the construction
of the aforementioned project.

(iii)

Caribbean Money Market Brokers Limited has borrowed $671 million from various financial institutions
secured by investment securities purchased. The proceeds of these short-term borrowings were to purchase
various held for trading investments.

(iv)

Methanol Holdings (International) Limited has borrowed $2,615 million through Hermes fixed and floating rate
facilities, secured by a mortgage over the company’s assets. The proceeds of the loan were used to finance
construction of the Oman Methanol Company.

(v)

Republic Bank Limited has borrowed $681 million through various fixed and floating rate bonds, mortgage
pass-through securities and tax free debentures. The Bank has pledged a portfolio of liquid debt securities
issues or guaranteed by the Government of Trinidad and Tobago together with high-grade corporate bonds
and debentures as well as a designated portfolio of mortgage loans net of the related loan loss provisions.
Some of the floating rate bonds are secured by property and equipment under investments in leased assets as
well.

(vi)

Clico Energy Limited has borrowed $315 million from Hyposwiss Private Bank Limited secured by pledging
fiduciary monies. The proceeds of the loan were used to finance the acquisition of 66% of Eurotecnica
Melamine S.A., a subsidiary of Clico Energy Limited.

(vii)

Clico Holdings Barbados has borrowed $701 million from Deutchse Bank Alex Brown through two revolving
margin loans secured by underlying debt securities. The proceeds of these borrowings were to purchase various
debt securities that are included in the company’s financial assets at fair value through income category.

(viii)

Clico Investment Bank Limited has borrowed $2,054 million in various fixed rate long term bonds in issue with
maturity dates ranging from 2012 to 2018. The issues have been registered with the Trinidad and Tobago
Stock Exchange Commission and can be repaid before maturity based on their various terms upon giving
the requisite notice and payment of the requisite prepayment premium. These notes are secured by various
investments owned by the Bank.

(ix)

Home Construction Limited has borrowed $699 million from First Citizen’s Bank Limited secured by a first
mortgage over the lands of One Woodbrook Place. The proceeds of the facility were used to finance
construction of the One Woodbrook Place development.

(x)

CL Marine Limited borrowed $190 million from RBTT Bank Limited secured by a debenture over the company’s
property, plant and equipment. The proceeds were used to acquire properties, a floating dock and plant and
machinery. 		

76

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2007
24 Derivative Financial Instruments
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

—		
—
6,647		
37,592

19,229
127,619
5,976
25,019

44,239

177,843

44,239

177,843

24.1
24.2
24.3
24.4

Securities to be delivered		
Call option		
Currency swap derivative
Cross currency interest rate swaps

			
Current portion
24.1

The 2006 securities to be delivered represent securities borrowed from brokers for the purpose of generating
a profit from short-term fluctuations in the market price of the securities. There are no such arrangements at 31
December 2007.

24.2

The 2006 balance represents the fair value of call options attached to certain of the Group’s held-for-sale
financial assets. There are no such options at the end of 31 December 2007.

24.3

A subsidiary established a currency swap instrument in relation to a US$25 million bond to take advantage of
exchange movements between the United States Dollar and Japanese yen. The agreement is for the term of the
related bond but provides for earlier withdrawal. The fair value of the instrument is shown above as a currency
swap derivative with gains and losses being included in investment income and finance costs respectively.

24.4

The contract/notional amounts of derivative financial instruments are as follows:

		

201,120

Cross Currency Interest Rate Swaps
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25 Post Retirement Medical Benefits
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

Balance sheet obligation for post retirement medical benefits

95,380

83,398

Income statement charge for post-employment medical benefits

13,176

14,073

A subsidiary operates a post-retirement medical benefit scheme. The method of accounting, assumptions and the
frequency of valuations are similar to those used for defined benefit pension schemes.
In addition to the assumptions set out above, the main actuarial assumption is a long-term increase in health costs of
6.00% a year (2006: 6.00% - 7.25%).
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet were determined as follows:
Present value of funded obligations		
Unrecognised actuarial loss

(100,364)		
4,984

(91,830)
8,432

(95,380)

(83,398)

Balance at beginning of year		
Current service cost		
Interest on defined benefit obligation		
Contributions		
Net actuarial losses recognised		
Exchange adjustment

(83,398)		
(5,260)
(7,916)		
1,250		
—		
(56)

(67,018)
(5,868)
(7,020)
1,092
(1,185)
(3,399)

Balance at end of year

(95,380)

(83,398)

Net liability recognised on the balance sheet
Movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:
Current service cost		
Interest cost		
Net actuarial losses recognised

5,260		
7,916
—
13,176

Total, included in staff costs

5,868
7,020
1,185
14,073

The total charge of $13,176,000 (2006: $14,073,000) was included in administration expenses.
Based on a 1% increase in medical costs and a 1% decrease in medical costs the following are the effects on:
		
			
Increase		
Decrease
			
of 1%		
of 1%
			
$’000		
$’000
Aggregate Service and Interest Costs		
Year-End Defined Benefit Obligation
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16,575		
120,969

9,997
77,227
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26 Asset retirement obligation
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					
Balance at beginning of year		
506,452		
Charged/(credited) to the income statement:				
- additional provisions		
37,409
- unwinding of discount		
37,418		
- exchange difference
(661)

2006
$’000
Restated
421,750
49,385
33,857
1,460

Balance at end of year

580,618

506,452

Non-current portion

580,618

506,452

			
In accordance with IAS 37, a provision is recognised for the present value of costs to be incurred for the decommissioning
of various methanol, ethanol and oil exploration sites.
27 Trade Payables and Customers’ Deposits		
Trade payables		
Customer deposits		
Due to banks		
Funds under management		
Due to re-insurers
		

1,903,124		
26,168,467
650,078		
1,077,723		
63,400

1,375,490
24,498,461
1,251,687
997,880
60,019

29,862,792

28,183,537

28 Other Current Liabilities		
Short-term loans		
Securities sold under repurchase agreements		
Other Payables and accruals		
Dividends payable
Current portion of long term borrowings (Note 23)

2,871,840		
6,324,164		
10,077,977		
14,383		
1,842,480
21,130,844

		

3,298,818
5,659,503
9,819,858
2,936
2,642,264
21,423,379

29 Other Operating Income
Fee and commission income		
Foreign exchange earnings		
Net gains from held for trading investments		
Realised gain/(unrealised loss) on sale of		
First Caribbean International Bank Shareholding
Other operating income
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660,836		
205,546		
42,591		
370,187		

664,425
214,358
50,284
(175,428)

1,129,382

660,783

2,408,542

1,414,422
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30 Profit from Operations
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					
Profit from operations for the year was arrived at after charging:

2006
$’000
Restated

(1,049,392)		
(878,010)		
(73,295)		
—		
(89,372)

(1,018,418)
(762,114)
(188,994)
(10,835)
(98,852)

Staff costs		
Depreciation (Note 7)		
Goodwill impairment – subsidiaries (Note 9)		
Goodwill impairment – associates (Note 10)		
Amortisation of intangibles (Note 9)

9,886

Number of employees at end of year

31 Taxation 				
Subsidiaries
- Current tax
- Deferred tax
			
Associated Companies
Taxation expense

9,138
Restated

317,450
427,119

468,362
(365,560)

744,569
10,350

102,802
6,732

754,919

109,534

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the
home country of the company as follows:
2,495,374

Profit before tax
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25%		
Effect of different rates in other countries
and on different sources of income		
Income not subject to tax		
Expenses not deductible		
Deferred tax asset on tax losses not recognised		
Prior year		
Effect of tax rate adjustments		
Revenue based taxes		
Group relief		
Allowable expenditure		
Other differences		
Tax allowance

623,844		

578,255

167,720		
(789,568)		
780,885		
68,461
(5,234)		
(143,000)
27,931		
—		
13,162		
(12,812)		
23,530

143,455
(1,263,143)
1,235,704
113,914
36,092
74,177
23,545
(50)
(830,590)
(1,613)
(212)

754,919
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2,313,018

109,534
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31 Taxation (Continued)
Tax rates vary from 0-55% depending on the type of business and the tax jurisdiction in which the parent company
and its subsidiaries operate.
The Group has $7,388 million (2006:$7,576 million) in tax losses which have not all been agreed by the Board of
Inland Revenue. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on $4,200 million of tax losses (2006: $2,610 million)
due to the uncertainty over the timing of the recoverability of the tax losses. The potential deferred tax asset related to
the losses not booked is $1,101 million (2006:$700 million).
32 Dividends Declared
			
			

2007		
$’000		

2006
$’000

Dividend Proposed

37,500

—

Dividend per share

$5.00

—

The dividend declared was in respect of the year ended 31 December 2006. A dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2007 has not yet been determined.
33 Reserve Funds
Balance at beginning of year		
Transfer from retained earnings

204,594		
71,499

132,058
72,536

Balance at end of year

276,093

204,594

The legislation covering certain financial institutions in countries in which the Group operates stipulates that a percentage
of net profits be transferred to a reserve fund. This percentage varies between 10% to 25%.
34 Capital and Operating Lease Commitments
i)

The Group’s capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial
statements amounted to $9.2 billion (2006: $9.2 billion).

ii) The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than 1 year		
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
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443,175		
1,658,438		
2,458,447

339,831
1,220,214
1,645,356

4,560,060

3,205,401
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35 Contingent Liabilities
i)

A life insurance subsidiary has given a guarantee to the Supervisor of Insurance (Barbados) agreeing to
indemnify policyholders against any loss suffered, as a condition of the transfer of its long-term portfolio to a
fellow subsidiary incorporated in Barbados.

ii)

A life insurance subsidiary together with the parent company has given standby letters of credit support to
fellow subsidiaries amounting to $49 million.

iii)

A life insurance subsidiary has guaranteed a loan from a third party to the parent company in the amount of
$154 million.

iv)

Certain Group subsidiaries are party to various legal proceedings against them. Unless otherwise stated, no
provisions have been made at this time as it is unlikely that any significant loss will be incurred. This is based
on either professional advice or that management is unable to assess the ultimate outcome at this time.

v)

Certain Group subsidiaries are governed by the Retrenchment and Severance Benefits Act 1985 which requires
that severance benefits are payable to employees if terminated through redundancy. No provision is made for
this contingency in these financial statements.

vi)

A banking subsidiary in the Group has guaranteed customer liabilities under acceptances, indemnities,
guarantees and letters of credit amounting to $1,385 million (2006: $1,043 million) for which there are equal
and offsetting claims against customers in the event of a call on these commitments.

vii)

Certain subsidiaries have been involved in several Board of Inland Revenue audits for various years of income
for which various additional assessments have been raised. These matters are currently before the Tax Appeal
Board. Where subsidiaries feel that matters will be decided in their favour based on professional advice, no
provisions have been made in the financial statements.

viii)

An energy subsidiary has provided certain guarantees to the purchaser following disposal of Pioneer Petroleum
Company Limited and Lennox Production Services Limited.

ix)

A drinks and spirits subsidiary has guaranteed a loan on behalf of a joint venture company. The balance
outstanding on the loan at the year end was $1 million.

x)

In accordance with the sale and purchase agreement of British American Insurance Company Limited and its
subsidiaries (BAICO), CL Financial Limited has agreed to provide financial support to BAICO to ensure that the
Company meets statutory solvency requirements in the territories in which it operates and continues as a going
concern. Based on their undertaking, CL Financial Limited issued an irrevocable letter of credit of US$7.8
million to the Bermuda Regulators.
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35 Contingent Liabilities (Continued)
xi)

A subsidiary has provided a guarantee in respect of an agreement between Oman Plant Services LLC and
Oman Methanol Company LLC, both of which are based in the Sultanate of Oman.

xii)

A real estate development subsidiary has given a $9 million guarantee in respect of loan facilities taken out by
a third party.

xiii)

Certain Group subsidiaries have contingent liabilities in respect of customs bonds and letters of credit in the
normal course of business. These total $106 million (2006: $106 million).

xiv)

Certain Group subsidiaries have committed to the establishment of post-retirement benefits (pension and
healthcare). The Group has recorded in its other current liabilities, a liability of approximately $2 million.

xv)

CL Financial together with a related company, Helm AG, has given a guarantee of US$48 million should
Methanol Holdings International Limited be unable to subscribe and pay for shares or advance pre-completion
loans in accordance with the terms of an Equity and Subscription Agreement entered into on 9 December,
2004.

xvi)

CL Financial Limited has given a guarantee on behalf of an energy subsidiary to RBTT Bank Limited in the
amount of $4.5 million to secure credit facilities taken out by this subsidiary.

xvii)

CL Financial Limited has given a guarantee on behalf of a drinks and spirits subsidiary to KBC Bank Limited in
the amount of Euro 3 million to KBC Bank to secure credit facilities taken out by this subsidiary.

xviii)

CL Financial Limited has given a guarantee on behalf of a drinks and spirits subsidiary to secure leasing
arrangements for certain pieces of equipment being used by this subsidiary.
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36 Cash Flows from Operating Activities
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

2,495,374		

2,313,018

(469,944)		
(1,106)		
878,010		
225,175		
187,915		
23,260 		
73,295		
89,372		
—
(73,203)		
(41,134)		
183,520
(105,518)		
(384,832)
4,400,249		
74,827		
(5,225,143) 		
1,287,849		
(42,591)

(306,170)
—
762,114
(4,244)
62,149
—
199,829
98,852
(14,566)
(616)
(107,795)
(265,537)
(60,897)
(332,571)
1,800,886
83,242
(6,080,555)
4,196,805
(50,284)

Profit before taxation
Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash from operating activities:
Fair value gains – investment properties (Note 6)		
Fair value gains – land held for development (Note 8)		
Depreciation (Note 7)		
Impairment of loans		
Impairment of investment properties (Note 6)		
Impairment losses on land held for development (note 8)		
Goodwill impairment – subsidiaries and associates		
Impairment and amortisation of other intangibles		
Negative goodwill		
Gain on disposal of subsidiary		
Foreign exchange adjustments
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
Retirement benefits and post-retirement medical benefits		
Share of results of associated companies		
Increase in insurance contracts		
Increase in asset retirement obligation		
Net change in operating assets (Note 36.1)		
Net change in operating liabilities (Note 36.2)		
Net gains from held for trading investments

3,575,375

Cash inflow from operating activities
36.1

Net change in operating assets:

		
		
		
		
		
		

Increase
Increase
Increase
Increase
Increase
Increase

		

Net increase in operating assets

36.2

2,293,660

in
in
in
in
in
in

other assets		
current assets		
statutory deposits with Central Bank		
inventories		
trade receivables and loan receivables		
loans and advances

168,389		
(1,217,817)
(238,053)		
(949,945)		
(725,727)		
(2,261,990)

(1,206,415)
(116,269)
(248,038)
(444,364)
(1,952,732)
(2,112,737)

(5,225,143)

(6,080,555)

24,375
778,109
(1,196,558)
64,012
1,574,705		
43,206

862,580
1,308,576
683,920
(10,918)
1,956,678
(604,031)

Net change in operating liabilities:

		
		
		
		
		
		

Increase in related party advances		
Increase in other current liabilities
(Decrease)/increase in due to unit fund holders		
Increase/(decrease) in investment contracts		
Increase in trade payables and customer deposits		
Increase/(decrease) in derivative financial instruments

		

Net increase in operating liabilities

1,287,849
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37 Principal Subsidiaries
			
			
Insurance

% Shareholdings
2007
2006

Colonial Life Insurance Company (Trinidad) Limited
- long-term insurance business both in and outside of
		 Trinidad and Tobago

Country of
Incorporation

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

94

94

Trinidad and Tobago

Clico International Life Insurance Company Limited
- long-term insurance business both in and outside of
		 Barbados

100

100

Barbados

Clico International General Insurance Company Limited
- general insurance business both in and outside of
		 Barbados

100

100

Barbados

Clico (Bahamas) Limited
(formerly British Fidelity Assurance Limited)
- long-term insurance business both in and outside of
		 The Bahamas

100

100

Bahamas

British American Insurance Company Limited
- long-term insurance business both in and outside of
		 The Bahamas

82

82

Bahamas

100

100

Guyana

Clico General Insurance Company Suriname N.V.
- general insurance company in Suriname

100

100

Suriname

Clico Life Insurance Company Suriname N.V.
- long term insurance business in Suriname

100

100

Suriname

Colonial Fire and General Insurance Company Limited
- general insurance business both in and outside of
		 Trinidad and Tobago

Clico Life & General Insurance Company S.A. Limited
- long term insurance and general insurance business
		 in Guyana
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37 Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)
			
			

% Shareholdings
2007
2006

Country of
Incorporation

Finance and banking
Clico Mortgage & Finance Company Limited
(formerly Caribbean Commercial Trust Company Limited)
- finance house and trust company

100

100

Barbados

Clico Investment Bank Limited
- finance house and trust company

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

Caribbean Money Market Brokers Limited
- securities trader and investment manager

73

73

Trinidad and Tobago

CMMB Securities Limited
- stock broker

73

73

Trinidad and Tobago

Republic Bank Limited
- commercial bank and trust company

55

55

Trinidad and Tobago

—

68

Trinidad and Tobago

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

Home Construction Limited
- shopping mall complex operator and real estate developers

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

Plaza Development Limited
- shopping mall complex operator

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

Valpark Shopping Plaza Limited
- shopping mall complex operator

90

90

Trinidad and Tobago

Clico Property Development Company (St. Lucia) Limited
- real estate developer

100

100

St. Lucia

Colonial Life Development Company (Grenada) Limited
- real estate developer and resort manager

100

100

Grenada

75

75

The Home Mortgage Bank Limited
- financing and trading of mortgages
		 (Now accounted for as an associate company)
CL Permanent Building and Loan Society
- financing of mortgages
Real Estate

Tobago Plantations Limited
- real estate developer
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37 Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)
			
			
Energy, manufacturing, agriculture and forestry

% Shareholdings
2007
2006

Angostura Holdings Limited
- manufacturer of rum, bitters, and other spirits

Country of
Incorporation

78

78

Trinidad and Tobago

Burn Stewart Distillers Limited
- manufacture of spirits

100

100

United Kingdom

CL World Brands Limited
- manufacture of spirits

100

100

United Kingdom

Angostura Suisse S.A.
- manufacture of wines

100

100

Switzerland

Lawrenceburg Distillers Indiana, LLC
100
-- manufacture of whiskies, gin and other spirits			

United States
of America

St. Lucia Distillers Limited
- manufacture of rum and other spirits
Caribbean Resources Limited
- operation of timber concessions, sawmilling
		 and docking facilities
Clico Agricultural Development Company Limited
- cultivation and sale of sugar cane and vegetable produce
Methanol Holdings (Trinidad) Limited
- manufacture of methanol from natural gas
Methanol Holdings (International) Limited
- manufacture of methanol from natural gas
Primera Oil and Gas Limited
		 (formerly Premier Oilfields of Trinidad Limited)
- exploration and production of crude oil
Trinidad Bulk Traders Limited
- manufacture and sale of anhydrous ethanol
Caribbean Petrochemical Manufacturing Limited
- manufacture of glues, adhesives and resin
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100

100

St. Lucia

100

100

Guyana

100

100

Barbados

56

56

Trinidad and Tobago

56

56

St. Kitts		

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

100

—

Trinidad and Tobago
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37 Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)
			
			

% Shareholdings
2007
2006

Country of
Incorporation

Services
Clico Holdings (Barbados) Limited
- property and investment holding company

100

100

Barbados

HealthNet Limited
- medical services provider

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

Investors Holdings Limited
- investment holding company

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

Clico Energy Company Limited
- project managers

51

51

Trinidad and Tobago

Primera Oilfied Management Services Limited
- investment holding company and service provider

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

CL Marine Group of Companies
- provider of drydock and ship repair services

100

100

Trinidad and Tobago

—

67

Trinidad and Tobago

Communications
CL Communications Limited
- investment holding company
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38 Business Combinations
During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group acquired the following companies. Details of the net assets
acquired and purchase consideration are as follows:
			
Caribbean
			 Petrochemical
			 Manufacturing
			
Limited
			
$’000
Purchase consideration

Lawrenceburg
Distillers	Eurotecnica
Indiana
Melamine
LLC	S.A.
$’000
$’000
89,054

404,946

548,828

17,987
—
53,735
—
2,373
5,482
(15,488)
(4,500)
(4,761)

—
—
139,896
2,142
—
36,413
(18,779)
—
(70,618)

137,949
216,579
9,476
41,724
138,793
—
(70,283)
—
(69,292)

155,936
216,579
203,107
43,866
141,166
41,895
(104,550)
(4,500)
(144,671)

Net assets
54,828
				
Purchase consideration settled in cash		
54,828
Cash and cash equivalents in
subsidiaries acquired
(2,373)

89,054

404,946

548,828

89,054

404,946

548,828

—

(138,793)

(141,166)

89,054

266,153

407,662

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition
		
Trade and other receivables		
Patents and other intangibles		
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7)		
Other assets		
Cash and cash equivalents		
Inventories		
Trade and other payables		
Borrowings		
Other Liabilities

Cash outflow on acquisition

54,828

Total
2007
$’000

are as follows:

52,455

89

90
23,542

(908,899)

38,761

1,620
(846)

41,166
(2,405)

Cash outflow / (inflow) on acquisition

992

—

Net assets
38,151
64,491
					
Purchase consideration settled in cash		
23,585
128,232
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired
(43)
(1,037,131)

774

—
(2,288)
—
786
7,514
846
—
(5,866)
—
—

—
(113,690)
—
188,800
1,314
2,405
(74,767)
(2,230)
(1,832)
—

106,589
—
19,043
976
79,818
1,037,131
—
(42,323)
(1,136,743)
—

1,620

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:			
Loans and advances		
60
Due to related companies		
(79,978)
Intangible assets		
—
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7)		
184,457
Other assets		
48,239
Cash and cash equivalents		
43
Term loans		
(54,684)
Other liabilities		
(47,269)
Customer deposits		
—
Minority interest
(12,717)

41,166

West Atlantic
Construction
$’000

128,232

Dextra
Bank &		
Trust
Infinity II
$’000
$’000

23,585

Purchase consideration

			
Rayside
			Construction
			
Limited
			
$’000

(845,822)

194,603
(1,040,425)

103,634

106,649
(195,956)
19,043
375,019
136,885
1,040,425
(129,451)
(97,688)
(1,138,575)
(12,717)

194,603

Total
2006
$’000

During the year ended 31 December 2006, the Group acquired the following companies. Details of the net assets acquired and purchase consideration are
as follows:

38 Business Combinations (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 December 2007

80,168
(110,000)
(29,832)

11,580
(12,000)
(420)

			
Sales Proceeds
(48,456)

18,954
(67,410)

1,347
17,607

5,505

6,447
(942)

—
6,447

Lennox
Production
& Pioneer
Optimal
Petroleum	Services
Limited
Limited
$’000
$’000

During 2006, the Group disposed of its 73% interest in Flavorite Foods Limited to a related party.

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

—
80,168

6,473
5,107

Property, plant and equipment		
Other net assets disposed of

Details of net assets disposed are as follows:
		
			
				
Home
			
CL
Mortgage
			 Communications
Bank
			
Limited
Limited
			
$’000
$’000

39 Disposal of Subsidiaries		

(73,203)

117,149
(190,352)

7,820
109,329

Total
2007
$’000

(616)

30,071
(30,687)

18,608
11,463

Total
2006
$’000

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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40 Prior Year Adjustments
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					

2006
$’000
Restated

Opening retained earnings as previously stated		

556,138		

777,035

Adjustments identified during the year:
Change in deferred tax (Note 2.29 (i))		
Change in accounting policy (Note 2.29 (ii))		
Reclassify financial assets to investment in associate (Note 2.29 (iii))		
Consolidation of Core Mutual Fund (Note 2.29 (iv))		
Prior year errors (Note 2.29 (vi))		
Adjustment for acquired subsidiary (See Note 40.1 below)		
Write off Goodwill (See Note 40.2 below)		
Others

—		
—		
—		
—		
—		
(33,710)		
(36,370)		
(3,817)

(2,337)
(7,881)
(377,353)
13,408
18,259
—
—
—

(73,897)

(355,904)

		

482,241

421,131

Opening fair value reserves as previously stated		

350,801		

369,160

Adjustments identified during the year:
Reclassify financial assets to investment in associate (Note 2.29 (iii))		
Consolidation of Core Mutual Fund (Note 2.29 (iv))

—		
—

(7,029)
1,314

—

(5,715)

Opening retained earnings as restated
		

		

Opening fair value reserves as restated
350,801
363,445
						
		
Opening minority interests as previously stated		
6,609,343		
5,884,966
Adjustments identified during the year:
Adjustment for acquired subsidiary		
Reclassify financial assets to investment in associate (Note 2.29 (iii))
		

(32,388)		
—

—
(14,722)

(32,388)

(14,722)

Opening minority interests as restated
6,576,955
5,870,244
						
40.1

This relates to adjustments to opening retained earnings of an acquired subsidiary.

40.2

This relates to the write off of goodwill not previously identified in 2006 but subsequently computed and fully
impaired due to uncertainty of future profitability.		
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41 Related Party Transactions
			
2007		
			
$’000		
					
The following transactions were carried out with related parties:
a)
		

Sales of goods and or provision of services to:				
- Shareholders/entities controlled by key management personnel
90,000

b)
		

Key management compensation
Salaries and other short-term benefits

176,760

2006
$’000
Restated

53,000
184,198

42	Subsequent Events
Subsequent to the year end the following significant events occurred:
a.

On 17 December 2007, a public offer was made for shares in Lascelles deMercado & Co. Limited (the company),
a major diversified group which is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

		

At the close of the offer on 28 January 2008, the total acceptances received amounted to 68,636,224 shares,
which represented 38.9% of the voting rights and for which an initial 50% payment against the offer price of
US$9.00 per share became due. In accordance with the terms of the offer, completion of the purchase can be
effected on or before 28 January 2011, with the final payment per share of between US$4.50 and US$6.15,
depending on the actual date of settlement. Upon completion of the purchase of the company the offer agreement
stipulated that the CL Financial group will obtain an additional block of shares in the company, representing
46.62% of the voting rights at a total cost of $J2. Accordingly, the group, via a 100% wholly owned subsidiary,
CL Spirits Limited completed the purchase of the company on 28 July 2008, with the final payment determined at
US$4.75 per share.

		

The Group’s shareholding now stands at 86.87% of the company and a voting rights position of 92%, with the
total investment cost, including professional fees and other expenses at US$676 million.

		

The Group has raised external debt financing in the amount of US$450 million to finance this equity investment
at rates varying between 9.5% and 10.5% per annum.

		

As at 30 June 2008, being the last date for which Published financial information on the company is available,
total assets amounted to US$475.9 million and Shareholders’ equity stood at US$356 million. The group is
currently in the process of seeking to ascertain the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable net assets of the
company.
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42	Subsequent Events (Continued)
b.

The Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Green Island Venure LLC for a cash consideration of
$1,861,902,000 on 7 January 2008. Details of the purchase consideration are as follows:

			
Purchase consideration
- Cash paid
- Borrowings
Total purchase consideration

$’000
305,853
1,556,049
1,861,902

			
		
The carrying amount of the acquiree’s investment property equals its fair value. There was no goodwill on
acquisition. As of 31 December 2007, the Group made a down payment of $482,000,000 for the acquisition
of this subsidiary which is included under other receivables.
c.

On 3 March 2008, a preliminary agreement was entered into between Primera East Brighton Limited (PEBL), a
100% subsidiary company and Sinopec International Petroleum Exploration and Production Corporation (SIPC),
a company registered and operating in the People’s Republic of China. Under the terms of the agreement PEBL,
will assign and transfer 65% of its participation interest in the East Brighton Block, Trinidad and Tobago for the
sum of US$33M. As at the date of signing of these financial statements, both parties are still to conclude the final
purchase agreement and Joint operating agreement.

d.

On 14 October 2008, the Group acquired 45% of Caribbean Money Market Brokers Limited (CMMB) from
Jamaican Money Market Brokers Limited at a cost of US$41.37 million. The acquisition of this additional 45%
brings the Group’s interest in CMMB to a wholly owned subsidiary at 100%. The goodwill on acquisition has not
yet been determined.

43 Assets Pledged
Assets pledged to The Inspector of Financial Institutions of Trinidad and Tobago and other regulatory bodies approximate
$28,662 million (2006: $28,184 million).
Assets pledged as security for overdrafts, short-term and long-term loans approximate $32,128 million (2006:
$23,807 million). Debt securities pledged to third parties under sale and repurchase agreements amount to $6,324
million (2006: $5,659 million).
44 Non-Compliance with IFRS 7
For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group did not comply with IFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures
due to not having the required information to prepare the disclosure requirements for the years ended 2006 and
2007. Non-compliance with this disclosure standard does not have any impact on the classification and valuation of
the Group’s financial instruments or financial statements. It is intended that the Group will comply with this reporting
requirement in its presentation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2008.
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